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Législation 4

PEIHRA (Prince Edward Human Rights Act)
FOIP (Privacy and Personal Information Act

Relevant documents relied upon 6

1. Letter of Apology dated January 30,2009 previousiy written by the ELSB for its discriminatcry

Conduct

2. Mémo send to ail staff regarding the ELSBs discriminatory conduct towards the Applicant

3. ELSB's Letter dated July 5, 2010, informing the Applicant that there will no further

employee-employer relationship with the Applicant in the future

4. Compétition Ad for the position of Directorof Human resourcesdated September 7, 2012

5. Applicant Screening Tool used for the Compétition of Director of Human Resources

6. Human Rights Complaint fiied by the Applicant

7. Release signed between the Applicant and the H.SB on February 6, 2012

8. ELSB's Submissions dated August 5, 2014 re: the Release and re: suggestion that it operated a

bar againstany daim by the Applicant that he had been discriminated against

9. ELSB's further Submissions dated August 29, 2014 re: the merit of the complaint

10. ELSB's further Submissions dated January 201S

11. Applicant's Submissions in reply

12. Executive director décision dated April 11, 2017, dismissingthe compiaint

13. Request for Review of the Executive director's decisior).

14. On August 11, 2017 the Chair's décision dated August 11, 2017confirmingthe HRC's décision

3..



No._

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CANADA

(ON APPEAL FROM THE PRINCE EDWARD COURT OF APPEAL)

BETWEEN:

NOELAYANGMA

AND

THE PRINCE EDWARD HUMAN RIGHTS COMMISSION

RESPONDENT

THE ENGLISH LANGUAGE SCHOOL BOARD

RESPONDENT

NOTICE OF APPLICATION FOR LEAVE TO APPEAL

TAKE NOTICE that the Applicant, Noël Ayangma hereby applies to the Suprême Court of Canada
pursuantto section 40(1) of the Suprême Court Act, R.S.C. 1985, c. S-26, as amended, for leaveto appeal
from the decislon/order of the Prince Edward Island Court of Appeal dated July 25, 2019 and August 28,
2019 respectiveiy (case number Sl-CA 1413), which décision dismissed the Applicant's appeal from the
décision of the Applications judge (case number Sl-GS-27578) dated December21,2018, which décision,
upheld the décision of the Chairperson dated August 11, 2017, which in return, upheld the décision of the
Executive Director dated April 11, 2017.

AND FURTHER TAKE NOTICE that the said Application for Leave to Appeal shall be made on the

followingthree main grounds:

GROUNDONE: DENIAL OF PROCEDURAL FAIRNESS/NATURAL JUSTICE

(a) The Sélection board has erred in law and denied the Applicant

procédural fairness, citing privacy concerns, when it refused to disclose

to the Applicant, as the aggrieved person and the person with the
burden of establishing a pr/ma fade case of discrimination, ail arguably

relevant application materials of the candidates who were screened-in,

which itgathered as part of the sélection process put in placetoselecta

Director of Human Resources, so as to enable him establish a prima

fade case of discrimination, showingeitherthat he had been denied an

opportunity to competeforthe position of Human Resources Director,

alongside ail those candidates screened- in and interviewed; or show
that the sélection criteria advertised bythe Respondentwere notevenly

applied to ail candidates, and/or that those screened in including
successfui candidate, may not have met ail the advertised criteria,

including the criteria it alleged the Applicant did not meet;
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(b) The Executive director has aiso erred in law in faiiing to direct the

Sélection Board to disclose to the Applicant ail application materials

requested including the résumés of the other two screened-in

candidates, aiso citing privacy concerns, and so did the Chairperson, the

Applications judge and the Court of Appeal when the upheld the

décision of the Executive director.

GROUNDTWO: SETTING AN EXTREMELY HIGHER AND UNREASONABLE STANDARD:

(c) The Executive director has aiso erred in law and set an extremely high

standard which was on its face beyond any reasonable expectation or

reach, when she required that the Applicant establish a prima fade

case of discrimination based on a déniai of an opportunity to compete

alongside other candidates screened-in, for the position of Director of

Human Resources, withoutthe benefit oftheir application materials of

ail candidates screened-in for the position, including their résumés:

(d) The Executive director has aiso erred in law and set a higher expectation

which was on its face beyond any reasonable reach, when she expected

the Applicant to show that he was either equally or more qualified than

the other candidates screened-in or show that the sélection criteria were

not evenly applied to al! candidates and/orthat some of the candidates

screened-in may not have met ail the minimum advertised sélection

criteria including the criteria the sélection board had alleged the

Applicant did not possess;

GROUNDTHREE: MAKING OF PATENTLY UNREASONABLE DECISIONS:

(e) AH the decision-makers involved in this case (the Chairperson, the

Applications judge and the Court made a patently unreasonable

décision, in concluding, that the Applicant failed to establish a prima

facie case at the investigative stage, without the benefit of ail the

résumés of those candidates screened in and interviewed for the

position of Director of Human Resources, and upholding the Executive

director's décision that ail those screened in and interviewed, ail met

the minimum qualifications advertised and were therefore more

qualified on a paper exercise, than the Applicant, including the criteria

the Executive director concluded the Applicant was lacking

DATED at the City of Charlottetown in the Province of Prince Edward Island this day of September, 2019.

NOËL



TO: THE REGISTRAR OF THE SUPREME COURT OF CANADA
4

AND TO: KAREN A. CAMPBELL, QC

JESSICA M. GILLIS

Queen Street, Charlottetown RE CIA 7N8

Tel: (902) 628-1033 Fax: (902) 566-2639

Solicitors forthe Respondents for the Respondent, the English Language School Board

AND TO: JONATHAN B. GREENAN

PO Box 2000, 53 Water Street

Charlottetown PE CIA 7N8,

Tel: (902) 368-1480 Fax: (902) 368-4236

Soliciter for the Respondent, PEI Human Rights Commission

NOTICE TO THE RESPONDENT

A respondent may serve and file a mémorandum in reply to this application for ieave within 30 ciear

days after service of the within application. If no reply is filed in that time, the Registrar wiil submit this

application for Ieave to the Court for considération pursuant to section 43 of the Suprême Court Act.

Dated this 8^^ day of September 2019

NOËL AYANGMA, Applicant

75 Cortiand Street, Chariottetown, PE.

Tel:(902) 628-7934

noeIayngma@yahoo.ca

TO: THE REGISTRAR OF THE SUPREME COURT OF CANADA

AND TO: KAREN A. CAMPBELL, QC

JESSICA M. GILLIS

Queen Street, Charlottetown PE CIA 7N8

Tel: (902) 628-1033 Fax: (902) 566-2639

Solicitors forthe Respondents for the Respondent, the English Language School Board

AND TO: JONATHAN B. GREENAN

PO Box 2000, 53 Water Street

Charlottetown PE CIA 7N8,

Tel: (902) 368-1480 Fax: (902) 368-4236

Soliciter for the Respondent, PEI Human Rights Commission
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FORM 25B CERTIFICATE

I, NOËL AYANGMA hereby certify that:

1. This file sealed in the courts below

NO

2. There is a ban on the publication of evidence or the names or identity of a party or a witness.

NO

3. There is confidentiel information on the file that should not be accessible to the public by virtue of

spécifie législation.

NO

SIGNED BY

September Stf!, 2019

NOËL AYANGMA DATE
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HRC file Number: 1929-13

In the Matter of the Humait RightsAct, R.S.P.E.1.1988, Cap. H-12, as amended.

Between:

And:

NOËL AYANGMA

COMPLAINANT

ENGLISH LANGUAGE SCHOOL EGARD

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR DECISION

NOTICE OF DISMISSAL

Pursuant to Section 22 Human RightsAct

10 APRIL 2017

To: NoëlAyangma

And To: Karen Campbell
Solicitor for the English Language School Board

RESPONDENT
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Nature of Complaint

On 18 October, 2013, Noël Ayangma ("Mr. Ayangma") filed a complaint in the area of

employment on the grounds of Colour, Race and Ethnie or National Origin and because he had

made previous complaints under the PEI Human Rights Act ("Act"). The Respondent, is the

English Language Sçhool Board ("ELSB").

Mr. Ayangma allégés thàt he was denied the opportunity to compete for a job with the ELSB.

He allégés that based on the job description posted in the advertisement, he had the requisite

qualifications and he should, therefore, have been screened in for an interview. He was not, and

he allégés the reason he was not was because of his Colour, Race and Ethnie or National Origin

and/ or because he had made previous complaints under the Act. Mr. Ayangma submits that the

individuals who were selected for interviews were no better qualified than he was and that the

successful candidate did not meet the basic educational requirement and thus should never have

been granted an interview, let alone the job.

Mr. Ayangma submits that:

the sélection criteria identified by the respondent and included in
the ad were not evenly applied to ail applicants and that he was
denied the opportunity to be interviewed for this position and
eventually the position of Director of Human Resources, even
though he was equally if not, better qualified than those who were
screened in and given an interview, including the successful
candidate.

(Further Reply to the Respondent's Additional Response, received
October 17, 2014, Para. 3)

He also submits that because he was more qualified than the successful applicant he was not only

denied the opportunity to compete he was, ultimately, denied the position.

The ELSB, défends the allégations of discrimination in two ways. Firstly, they submit that Mr.

Ayangma signed a Mémorandum of Settlement and Release in 2012 which they submit was a

flill and final release, not only of past allégations of discrimination but of future daims of
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discrimination as well. They submit that.tbe effect of that Release is that the Complainant is

prevented from making any further daims of discrimination against the ELSB.

Secondly, they submit that there is no merit to the complaint in that the Complainant has

presented no evidence to support that discriminatory factors were used to screen the Complainant

out of the hiring process. The ELSB déniés the characterization of the historical incidents set ont

in the complaint and submits they do not amount to evidence of discrimination in relation to this

job application process. They submit that the Sélection Board applied the sélection criteria

evenly to ail applicants.

In relation to the release, Mr. Ayangma submits that the Release does not apply to discriminatory

acts which occur after the signing of the Mémorandum of Settlement and Release.

Preliminarv Matter - Effect of the Release signed 6 February 2012

In paragraphs 82-84 of his complaint, Mr. Ayangma acknowledges that on 6 February 2012 he

signed a Mémorandum of Settlement and a Full and Final Release. He acknowledges that this

precludes the Commission from dealing with complaints arising prior to the exécution of the

agreement. As to allégations which post-date the Release he submits;

... he did not and could not have contractually agreed to put
himself beyond the protection of the Human Rights Act in the
future and/or relinquished his future rights protected pursuant to s.
6 of the Human Rights Act.

(Complaintfiled October 18, 2013, Para. 84)

The ELSB submits that he can and did contract out of his right to sue for any violations of his

Human Rights even those occurring after the exécution of the agreement ("future violations").

They rely on the wording of the Full and Final Release executed by Mr. Ayangma relating to,

inter alia, the ELSB which includes the following provisions:

Noël Ayangma ...

(c) Agréés not to make any daim or take any proceeding of any nature in
the future against the Releasees, individually or collectively, including
but not limited to a daim alleging a debt owed, breach of contract, a duty
of any kind whatsoever owed or breached, how so ever arising (be it
statutory, contractual or common law), human rights violation,
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collective agreement or other grievances, négligence, misrepresentation,
libel, slander, defamation, Charter violation(s), daims for damages or a
daim for any other remedy which is alleged to have been caused in any
manner whatsoever by the Releasees, individually or collectively, which
exists now, or may hereafter arise or be discovered to exist, which in any
way relates to or arises ont of any past, présent or future dealiugs or
daims of any nature or kind between the Releasees, individually or
collectively, and the Releasor (hereinafter referred to as "Future

Claims"). (Emphasis Added)

Full and Final Release executed 6 February 2012 by Mr.
Ayangma, Para, (c)

Whether the existence, validity and applicability of a Release will be dealt witb as a preliminary

matter will dépend on tbe nature and facts of tbe case. It may be appropriate to deal witb tbe

validity of tbe release before looking at tbe merits of tbe case wbere a release, if valid, clearly

covers tbe subject matter of tbe complaint. In otber cases, it may be clear tbat tbe case is not

witbin tbe jurisdiction of tbe Commission or lacks merit on its face in wbicb case it may be

appropriate to deal witb tbe case on its merits ratber tban assessing tbe validity or applicability of

tbe Release.

I bave reviewed ail of tbe materials, including cases and submissions, ffom tbe parties regarding

tbe Release and its applicability to "future" allégations of discrimination. Tbe parties submitted

significant case law relating to wbetber a person can contract ont of tbeir Human Rigbts or can

contract out of tbeir rigbt to file a complaint wben tbeir rigbts bave been violated.

If tbis matter were to be decided on tbe issue of tbe validity of tbe release as it relates to claims

tbat arise after tbe time of tbe signing of tbe Release, 1 would forward tbis matter to a Panel to

bear evidence and furtber submissions about tbe intentions of tbe parties and tbe effectiveness of

tbe Release given tbe public policy considération. 1 do not find, bowever, tbat is it necessary to

do so.

Altbougb tbe Respondent raised tbe Release as a preliminary matter, 1 bave reviewed ail of tbe

materials regarding tbe merits of tbe complaint and conducted an investigation on tbe merits. 1

bave concluded tbat 1 am able to exercise my discrétion under section 22 of tbe Act based on an

assessment of tbe merits of tbe case. For tbe reasons outlined below, 1 bave determined tbat

tbere is no reasonable basis, in tbe evidence, to justify sending tbe matter to a Panel based on tbe
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merits of the case and, therefore, it is not necessary for a Panel to be convened to hear evidence

j  on the Release.
Background and Détails of the Complaint

In September 2013, the ELSB advertised for applications to fill the positon of Director of Human

Resources. On 9 September 2013, Mr. Ayangrna applied for the positon. The compétition

closed on 13 September 2013.

The Minimum Qualifications set out in the Job Posting were:

Education and Training:

• Must have a university degree, preferably at the Masters level, in a related area with
considérable training in human respurces.

•  CHRP désignation would be an asset.

Skills and Expérience:

•  Extensive and successful experience in a senior human resource management rôle in a
complex unionized environment in areas such as labour relations, recruitment and
rétention, policy development, HR planning, classification etc.

• Managerial experience is required.
•  Proven conflict management and médiation skills.
• Demonstrated superior interpersonal, collaborative and team building .skills
•  Excellent oral, written and présentation skills are essential
• Ability to use word processing, spreadsheets, HR information Systems, présentations

software, e-mail.

The Sélection Board consisted of Cythia Fleet, ELSB Superintendent of Education; Ron

McLeod, Lawyer and Human Resources Consultant; and Rebecca Gill, Bilingual Staffmg

Consultant, PEI Public Service Commission. The Sélection Board reviewed the applicants using

an Applicant Screening Tool to détermine who would be invited for an interview. The Applicant

Screening Tool had the following five sections: Education (include Major and Minor), Relevant

Training, Relevant Experience, Other Requirements or Assets, and School Community.

As part of the investigation of this matter, I reviewed the résumés of each of the applicants for

this position and the completed Applicant Screening Tool. I met with one of the individuals on
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the Sélection Board. In doing se, I looked for evidence as to whether the sélection criteria were

evenly applied to ail candidates.

The Applicant Screening Tool listed each of the applicant's by name. Comments were written in

the columns until it was determined the person did not qualify and, for the most part, the

remaining columns did not have entries.

There were ten applicants for the position. Seven were screened out prior to the interview stage.

One was screened out for not having the required éducation. The other six applicants were

screened out for not having the required experience. Of those six, some candidates did have

Human Resource experience and some had familiarity or experience with unionized negotiations.

Mr. Ayangma was one of those six. Applicants #3, #4, and #5 were screened in for interviews.

Applicant #5 withdrew before the interview process. Applicants #3 and #4 were interviewed and

W.N. (Applicant #4) was hired for the position.

Education Reqiiirement

The Education Requirement was: "Must have a university degree, preferably at the Masters

level, in a related area with considérable training in Human Resources. CHRP désignation would

be an asset." CHRP stands for Certified Human Resources Professional.

Ron MacLeod, a member of the Sélection Board, clarifed what was meant by "related area." He

indicated they were looking for éducation which was related to the position of being an

Administrator, in an éducation setting. He indicated that there are a number of university

degrees which would satisfy this requirement. He also indicated that the qualification would be

satisfied if the person had any university degree and, separate and apart fiom that degree, they

had "considérable training in human resources."

Nine of the ten applicants passed through this screening. The one who had no university degree

was screened out. Of those screened in, a number had MBA degrees (one was completing the

MBA program), one had a law degree, one had a BAS (Business Administration Studies), and

one had a BA (Bachelor of Arts).
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Mr. Ayangma argues that W.N. and Applicant #3 should have been screened out of the sélection

• process for failing to have the requisite éducation qualification. He submits that the fact that they

were not, is an indication the criteria were not applied equally.

J  W.N. had a Masters of Education, in Education Administration. Mr. MacLeod stated that a
Masters of Education Administration is a degree about administering school Systems which the

J  Sélection Board identified as being related to this position. The successful candidate's rôle would

I  be Education Administration. W.N. does not have a CHRP désignation but did indicate

J  attending ongoing seminars and institutes in the Human Resourees area.

Applicant #3 had a BA in psychology and a CHRP désignation. The Sélection Board determined

this met the criteria of a university degree, and considérable training in Human Resources

I  ("HR"). Even though the HR training was not related to the university degree, the qualification
t..L

was satisfied by the studies necessary for a CHRP désignation.

Mr. Ayangma's educational qualifications were not in issue (they include an MBA and PhD in

Business Administration). He passed through this level of screening.

Relevant Expérience

^  The second level of screening was Relevant Expérience. Two of the minimum qualifications in

this area were stated to be;

Extensive and successful experience in a senior human resource
management rôle in a eomplex unionized environment in areas
such as labour relations, recruitment and rétention, policy
development, HR planning, classification etc.

^  Managerial Experience is required.

"  There were other minimum qualifications but thefe does not appear to be any issues relating to

these and they will not be discussed. The Relevant Experience category is where most applicants

were screened out.

Lj Mr. MacLeod clarified that a eomplex unionized environment is one where there is a large

number of unionized employées involving multiple unions. He provided two examples in PEI
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including Health and Education. The Health sector has a very large nurnber of employées, many

working shift work, with four différent bargaining units. The Education sector also has a very

large staff and five différent bargaining units which negotiate three différent Collective

Agreements. Mr. MacLeod indicated that from his experience, School Boards in other provinces

bave similar structures, although usually just three units (not five) negotiating three Agreements.

Mr. MacLeod indicated that the Sélection Board was looking for candidates that not only had

union related experience, but that held senior management rôles in complex union environments.

He indicated that while some applicants did have experience advising senior management or

participated in union negotiations, they either did not have senior management experience or did

not have management rôles in complex union environments.

In reviewing the Applicant Screening Tool and the résumés of the Applicants, the following

summarizes the basis on which six applicants were screened ont at this stage:

Applicant # 2 — indicated familiarity with the negotiation process with govemment and

was screened ont as having no extensive HR experience.

Applicant #6 - was a business owner and was screened ont as having no qualifying

experience (no evidence of uriion experience).

Applicant #7 - had multiple years of experience as a lawyer in the Human Resources

field and was screened ont as having no extensive managerial experience.

Applicant #8 - had experience with Human Resource Management and union

negotiations and was screened ont as having no extensive HR Management experience.

Applicant #9 - was a senior Director of Human Resources and was screened ont as not

having labour relations experience hi a unionized environment.

Mr. Ayangma was also screened ont at this stage. The notation on the Applicant

Screening Tool was that he had no significant Human Resources experience in a complex

unionized environment.
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Teaching HR management courses does equate to being an HR manager;

Providing stratégie advice to senior managers does not mean you are a senior manager.

Applicant #7 had significant experience giving advice to senior managers but was also

screened out for not having management experience.

He would not consider Régional Project Managers to be a senior human resource

management rôle and there was nothing in the résumé to indicate that this was a

unionized environment, let alone a complex one.

Although Mr. Ayangma's résumé indicates he has Human Resource experience, including that in

a union setting, the ELSB submits that his résumé and cover letter do not refer to senior

management rôles, nor do they identify management experience in "complex" unionized

environment. As with the other applicants who had some union or management experience, Mr.

Ayangma was screened out at this stage and not offered an interview.

Applicants Screened in for an Interview

W;N.'s application indicates he worked for five years as Director of Labour Relations for the

Newfoundland and Labrador School Boards Association. Among other things, his cover letter

States that his position involved being the Chief negotiator in contract negotiations with Unions

representing school employées. He was previously the Executive Director of the Nova Scotia

Teachers Union for six years and the Newfoundland and Labrador Teachers Union for four

years.

Mr. MacLeod advised that both he and Ms. Fleet were familiar with the structure of the

Newfoundland and Labrador School Boards Association and their negotiating structures. The

School Boards Association co-ordinates ail the Labour Relations for ail of the school boards in

the province and the Director would be involved in Collective Agreement negotiations for 25 to

30 thousand employées with a number of différent bargaining units.

In addition to the Director position, Mr. MacLeod indicated that in each of W.N.'s positions as

Executive Director of Teachers Unions he would have had management responsibility for

approximately 25-30 staff. W.N.'s cover letter outlines that he has:
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Mr. Ayansma 's Avvlication
n

■J Mr. Ayangma submits that he should not have been screened out at this stage and that his

^  application indicates he meets these qualifications. His cover letter and résumé state that he is an:
J

"experienced human resources individual who can function
T  independently and has considérable training, experience and skills
J  in human resources/financial management, managirig projects

and/or programs and labour relations issues in unionizedj  environments. . ."
He also indicates he was a "grievance and Appeal Représentative for the National Component of

f

the Public Service Alliance of Canada for 2 years."

n  In his submissions to the Commission, Mr. Ayangma indicated the following as examples of

where he demonstrates he was a senior manager in a complex unionized environment:

1  He worked in a unionized environment as Labour and Grievance Adjudication
J

Représentative;

J  He worked in a senior HR management rôle by teaching varions human resource
j  management courses;

He provided stratégie advice to senior managers, thereby he should be considered as a

senior manager;
J

^  He was a Régional Program Manager/Project Manager for a large project. His cover

^  letter indicates this was a $40M project.
J  Ron MacLeod indicated the Sélection Board did not identity these as meeting the qualification of

having extensive and successful experience in a senior human resource management rôle in a

complex unionized environment. He addressed the submissions noted above in the following

way:

Being an adjudication représentative is not a senior HR management rôle. Both

applicants #2 and #8 had experience in a union environment but not at the management

level and were screened out;
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.. .two décades of intense involvement and experience with respect to collective
bargaining, collective agreement administration, recruitment and hiring,
évaluation, employment relations, pensions and employée benefits and the broad
spectrum of labour relations and human resource management.

According to Mr. MacLeod, the Director of Labour Relations position in Newfoundland and

Labrador is a senior management position, in a complex unionized environment. The

comparable position in PEI would be the superviser to the Director of Human Resources, the

position for which they were hiring. In effect, he indicated W.N. was likely overqualified for the

position.

Candidate #3 - This candidate's application indicates having ten years experience as an HR

Manger in varions positions in the Health Sector. The résumé and cover letter outline that this

candidate do es have extensive experience as a Senior Human Resource Manager in a complex

unionized environment.

Candidate #5, who was screened in but withdrew before the interview process, provided a cover

letter and résumé outlining 12 years experience in senior management positions in environments

with multiple unions, part of that time being in the Health Sector.

The ELSB submits that the screening criteria were applied evenly to ail applicants. Mr.

MacLeod further stated that the Sélection Board never discussed Mr. Ayangma's Colour, Race

and Ethnie or National Origin and/ or that he had made previous complaints under the Act. Mr.

MacLeod acknowledged that he knew Mr. Ayangma and he knew of his circumstances but stated

they did not influence his décision and his knowledge was not discussed with the others. He was

unable to indicate what the other members of the Sélection Board knew about Mr. Ayangma's

circumstances.

Disclosure of Résumés

Mr. Ayangma requested that the ELSB disclose to him the applications of the individuals who

were screened in for interviews so he could assess and, if appropriate, challenge whether they

met the qualifications. The ELSB refused to provide copies to him, although they did provide a

copy of the successful candidate's application and a vetted copy of the Applicant Screening
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Tool. Mr. Ayangma submits that there should be an adverse inference drawn against the ELSB

as a resuit of their failure to release those documents.

The ELSB submits that the privacy of the individual applicants who applied in confidence for the

position would be violated by providing copies to him. They submit that even if names were

vetted, the information in the applications would allow for identification.

The ELSB provided me with access to ail of the applications received as well as access to the

un-vetted Applicant Screening Tool so I could conduct a review of the screening process to

détermine if there was any evidence in those documents to support Mr. Ayangma's allégations

that discriminatory factors weré considered to screen him out, and /or that the sélection criteria

were not applied evenly among the applicants. Those are appropriate rôles for the Executive

Director, acting as investigator, on a complaint such as this. In order to maintain the privacy of

the applicants I have provided some information about the applicants without putting such détail

as would lead to their identification.

Since the ELSB did provide rne, as investigator, with those documents there is no need to

address Mr. Ayangma's submissions about making an adverse inference firom their refusai to

release the documents.

Rôle of the Executive Director

The duties of the Executive Director are set out in section 22(3) and (4) of the^ct.-

22(3) The Executive Director shall investigate and attempt to effect
settlement of the complaint.

22(4) Notwithstanding subsection (3), the Executive Director may, at
any time,
(a) dismiss a complàint if the Executive Director considers that
the complaint is without merit;
(b) discontinue further action on the complaint if, in the opinion
of the Executive Director, the Complainant has refused to accept
a proposed settlement that is fair and reasonable;
(c) discontinue further action on the complaint if it could be dealt
with more appropriatély by an altemate method of resolution
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under any other Act, or if grievance or other review procédures
have not been exhausted; or
(d) report to the Chairperson of the Commission that the parties
are unable to settle the complaint.

During this stage of the process:

The investigator has the responsibility to acquire information from both
the complainant and the subject of the complaint. The investigator is
also obliged to explore the possibility of settlement of the complaint with
both parties.

Ayangma v French School Board, 2002 PESCAD 5, Para. 38

In P.E.I. Music and Amusement Operators Assn. Inc. v. Prince Edward Island the Court
consideréd the Executive Director's rôle stating:

28 ... [T]he process to be followed by the Executive Director is a
common sense assessment of the case before her/him, akin to what
happens in a preliminary inquiry in Provincial Court, or in a Summary
Judgment motion in Suprême Court. The Executive Dhector does not
make findings of fact, but rather makes an assessment of the case which
is part expert based on his/her experience, qualifications and rôle, and
part conomon sense. ...

29 While the Executive Director does not make findings of fact, he or
she is permitted and indeed is required, to assess the suffïciency of a
complaint so as to wimiow out daims which do not have a sound basis.

PEI Music and Amusement et al.v. Gov't ofPEI, 2014 PESC 20, Paras. 28-29
(upheld on appeal in 2015 PECA 8)

Where there is no settlement, it is the rôle of the Executive Director to déterminé if the matter

should proceed to a Panel. If a prima fade case of discrimination has been established by the

Complainant, the matter should proceed to a Panel. If the Complainant has not established a

prima fade case, the matter should be dismissed.

In reviewing the evidence gathered at the investigative stage, the Court provides the following

direction: . .. . . _

[37] At the investigative stage under the Human Rights Act a
complahiant need only make out a prima fade case of discrimination to
establish the complaint has merit. The next question is, what evidence
will constitute a prima fade case or put another way, what test should the
investigator, or the Chairperson on a review, apply to the evidence
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gathered in the course of an investigation to détermine whether to
dismiss a complaint for lack of merit?

[39] ... It is not the rôle of the investigator to weigh the evidence but
shnply to test its suffïciency and détermine if a panel should conduct an
inquiry.

[40] There will always be some evidence of discrimination even if it
comes only from the Complainant. Similarly, there will always be some
conflict in the evidence gathered by the investigator because the subject
of the complaint will most ffequently have a version of the situation
différent from that of the Complainant. Therefore, a test that would not
permit any weighing of the evidence in these circumstances would be
meaningless and impractical. Having due regard to the spirit of the Act
and to permit the Executive Director to properly discharge his function
as an investigator in deciding to dismiss a complaint for lack of merit, he
must be permitted to look at ail the evidence and make some common
sense assessment.

[41] ... [T]he investigator is to décidé whether there is a reasonable basis
in the evidence gathered by the investigator which would justify sending
the proceeding to the next stage which, failing settlement, is the inquiry
by a panel appointed by the Chaiiperson.

Ayangma v French School Board (2002), PESCAD 5, Paras. 37-41

Subsection 1(1 )(d) of the Act prohibits;

discrimination in relation to âge, colour, creed, disability, ethnie or
national origin, family status, gender expression, gender identity, marital
status, disability, political belief, race, religion, sex, sexual orientation, or
source of income of any individual or class of individuals.

S ection 15 of the pro vides :

No person shall evict, discharge, suspend, expel or otherwise
discriminate against any person because he bas made a complaint or
given evidence or assisted in any way in respect of the initiation, inquiry
or prosecution of a complaint or other proceeding under this Act.

Section 6(a) of the Act provides:

6. (1) No person shall refuse to employ or to continue to employ any
individual (a) on a discriminatory basis, including discrimination in any
tenu or condition of employment.
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Discrimination is described in the décision oîAndrews v Law Society ofBritish Columbia

(1989), 56 D.L.R. (4"^) 1 (S.C.C.) which was accepted in Ayangma v The French School Board

... discrimination may be described as a distinction, whether intentional
or net but based on grounds relating to personal characteristics of the
individual or group, which has the effect of imposing burdens,
obligations or disadvantages on such individual or group not hnposed

. upon others, or which withholds or limits access to opportunities,
benefits, and advantages available to other members of society.
Distinctions based on personal characteristics attributed to an individual
solely on the basis of association with a group will rarely escape the
charge of discrimination, while those based on an individual's merits and
capacities will rarely be so classed.

Ayangma v The French School Board, 2002 PESCAD 5, Para. 34

In Moore v. British Columbia (Education), the Suprême Court of Canada set ont the following

three-part test to détermine the existence of a prima fade case of discrimination:

... to demonstrate prima facie discrimination, complainants are required
to show that they have a characteristic protected from discrimination
under the Code; that they experienced an adverse impact with respect to
the service; and that the protected characteristic was a factor in the
adverse impact.

Moore v. British Columbia (Education) 2012 SCC 61, Para. 33

In Shakes v Rex PakLtd, the Ontario Human Rights Tribunal heard evidence that a black woman

applied for a job and was not hired. The same day, a white woman was hired to do the same job.

The Tribunal found that the evidence presented by the Complainant was sufficient to establish a

prima facie case. The Tribunal set out three pièces of evidence that the Complainant had to

satisfy:
I

In an employment complaint, the Commission usually establishes a
prima facie case by proving (a) that the complainant was qualified for the
particular employment; (b) that the complainant was not hired; and (c)
that someone no better qualified but lacking the distinguishing feature
which is the gravamen of the human rights complaint (i.e., race, colour,
etc.) subsequently obtained the position.

Shakes v Rex PakLtd, 1981 CarswellOnt 3407 (Ontario Board of
Inquiry), Para. 11
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In the Shakes. case, the Tribunal found the Ontario Commission, acting on behalf of the

Complainant, met the prima fade case and shifted the burden to the Respondent who offered

evidence in reply. Ultimately the fmding of the Tribunal was that there was no discrimination.

The test set ont in the Shakes case is a useful one in dealing with employment cases and it has

been accepted in PEI. In Ayangma v Eastern School Board [2005] P.E.I.H.R.B.I.D No 1; 2005

CanLII 60064, a Human Rights Panel used this test to find that there was prima fade evidence

that Mr. Ayangma had been discriminated against when he was not hired, nor given the

opportunity to interview, for a number of teaching positions. At the Panel, the burden shifted to

the Respondent who did not discharge their burden and a finding of discrimination was made.

The décision of the Panel was before the Suprême Court by way of a Judicial Review and the use

of the Shakes test in employment cases was confirmed.

[21] In reaching its décision, the Panel correctly set ont the three
elements necessary for a prima fade case of discrimination in
employment as articulated in the case of Shakes v. Rex Pak Ltd. (1981),
3CHRRD/1001.

Eastern School Board v Montigny and Ayangma 2007 PESCTD 18, Para. 21

Although this matter resulted in additional appeal hearings, the issues on appeal were related to

damages and costs," not the test itself. .

In some cases, there may be direct evidence of discrimination, in which case, it may not be

necessary to apply the Shakes test. This was the case in Widdis v Desjardin Group where the

Ontario Human Rights Tribunal stated:

[47] The applicant referred to Abouchar v. Metropolitan Toronto
School Board, [1998] OHRBID No. 6, in which the Board of Inquiry
States at paras. 10:

However, the tests in Shakes and Israeli are not a complété statement of
the applicable law. Dependmg on the factual circumstances, proof that
the complainant was an équivalent or better candidate will not always be
essential to the légal burden of proof in a case of employment
discrimination. A fmding of discrimination will be made ont if the
Commission can prove on the balance of probabilities that the
complainant was treated unequally in the compétitions, and that one
reason for the unequal treatment was his membership in a group
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identified by prohibited ground under the Human Rights Code [R.S.O.
1990, c. H. 19], It will be a question of fact in each case as to whether a
prohibited ground of discrimination was a factor in the unequal
treatment, and further, whether the discruninatory factor contributed to
the décision not to hire the complainant. Even a completely unqualified
applicant can be discriminated against in a hiring process on the basis of
a prohibited ground, but in those circumstances, the discrimination
would not likely be a proximate cause for the applicant's lack of success
in the compétition.

Widdis VDesjardins Group/Desjardins Generalinsurance 2013
HRTO 1367, Para. 47

In the Widdis case there was direct evidence that the pre-interview screener had a conversation

about the Complainant's inability to work on Saturday due to religious reasons. The Tribunal

found this to be sufficient prima facie evidence to switch the burden to the Respondent to

provide evidence that the reason she was not offered an interview was NOT because of her

religion. The Widdis case does not change the validity of the Shakes test, it simply highlights

that there may be cases where evidence of discrimination can be seen from words or actions of

the parties.

Where there is no direct evidence, which there often is not, then the Shakes test allows for an

analysis of the hiring process. Further direction in assessing the sélection criteria is found in

Ayangma v The Eastern School Board (2004):

[41] If spécifie sélection criteria were identified and if on their face

the sélection criteria were evenly applied, then there would be no basis
for suggesting that the sélection criteria were used to discriminate on one

of the prohibited grounds. However, anuneven application of the
sélection criteria does provide evidence suggestive of such

discrimination. In those circumstances, a further inquiry - by way of the
appointment of a panel of inquiry - is necessary. To set the bar higher
would be unreasonable. As many cases have noted, clear evidence of

discrimination on a prohibited ground is difficult to obtain.

Circumstantial evidence is often ail that is available. Depending upon
the circumstances, such evidence may be sufficient to establish

discrimination on a prohibited ground.

[44] Also, the evidence put forward iu the instant case could be

considered to be conflicting evidence which requires an assessment of
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credibility and reliability. The Board's position is that it applied certain

sélection criteria to ail candidates equally. The appellant allégés that

these criteria were not applied to ail candidates equally. There is some

evidence to support this argument of the appellant. Others appear

to bave been hired in spite of their failing to meet the identified

criteria. Perhaps further inquiry will résolve this apparent conflict, but

.  on its face it is a conflict that would require some weighing of the

evidence before ruling ont the suggestion that this is evidence of

discrimination. (Emphasis Added)

Ayangma v. The Eastern School Board 2004 PESCAD 23, Paras.

41 and 44

As can be seen ffom this 2004 case, the Shakes test applies at the investigative stage to detenhine

if there is sufficient evidence to send the matter to Panel. Whether the adverse impact was not

being hired for the position or not being given an interview, the Shakes test is an appropriate

analysis to produce a common sense assessment of the evidence.

It is not sufficient, however, for the Complainant to simply allégé the criteria were not applied

evenly. There must be "some evidence to support this argument". That evidence may be found

through the statements of witnesses or through a review, by the investigator, of the applications

and sélection criteria.

Prima Fade at the Investigation Stase

There is a différence in the assessment of what meets a prima fade case at the investigative stage

and what meets a prima fade case at a Panel. At the investigative stage, the threshold is less

onerous and is not subject to the same weighing of evidence as is necessary at a Panel. The

investigator is required to conduct a common sense assessment of the evidence to détermine

whether there is a reasonable basis to send the matter to a Panel. (Ayangma v French School

5oard, 2005 PESCAD 18)

Analysis

In preparing this décision, I bave given careful considération to àll information provided by the

parties, both in their written submissions and during interviews conducted as part of the
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investigation. I have made a common sense analysis of the facts with which I have been

provided. I have net made déterminations of credibility.

Mr. Ayangma is a person of colour and he bas madeprevious complaints under iheAct. He

applied for and was not hired nor given an opportunity to be interviewed for the advertised

position with the ELSB. He has, therefore, satisfied steps 1 and 2 of ûieMaore analysis.

Step 3 requires Mr. Àyangma to establish prima facie evidence that bis Colour, Race and Ethnie

or National Origin and/ or the fact that he has made previous complaints under the Act were

factors in bis ndt being interviewed or hired for the position.

Mr. Ayangma submits that because he was not offered an interview, he was not given the

opportunity to compete for the position and that this sets a lower threshold of what needs to be

established at this stage of the process than if he had been interviewed and not hired. Moore and

Shakes apply to this situation. For the matter.to be sent to a Panel, there must be some evidence

based on a common sense analysis to establish on a prima facie basis that he was excluded from

an interview for reasons related to bis personal characteristics as set out in bis complaint or that

bis résumé and cover letter were not assessed based on the same criteria as the other applicants.

Is there evidence that he was excluded from an interview for reasons related to his Personal

characteristics ?

Mr. Ayangma submits that he was the only black applicant for this position. Since Mr. Ayangma

does not know who the other applicants were, he has no evidence to offer in support of that. Mr.

MacLeod confirmed that neither of the two applicants who were interviewed are black. He

confirmed that he knew some of the other applicants personally and knows they are not black but

he indicated he had no knowledge of the Colour, Race and Ethnie or National Origin of the other

applicants whom he did not personally know. It was not information that was sought and the

members of the Sélection Board did not discuss the Colour, Race and Ethnie or National Origin

of Mr. Ayangma (whom Mr. MacLeod did know) or the other applicants. Mr. MacLeod

indicated that these were not considérations of the Sélection Board. There is no indication on the

applicant's résumés as to their Colour, Race and Ethnie or National Origin. Mr. Ayangma was
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not the only applicant screened out and the evidence does establish that there were white

applicants who were screened out on the same criteria as Mr. Ayangma.

Mr. Ayangma bas made a number of complaints against the ELSB and its predecessors (Eastem

School Board, Eastem School District). He submits that failure to consider him for this job in

2013 was another incident of discrimination by an organization which had systemically

discriminated against him in the past. To establish that point, in paragraphs 5-81 of his

complaint he outlined numerous incidents of alleged discrimination involving these parties

dating back to 1998. Mr. Ayangma submits it is necessary to understand this history to assess

his current complaint.

AU of the past incidents alleged by Mr. Ayangma bave been disposed of. Some of these

allégations resulted in hearings and fmdings of discrimination by a Human Rights Panel, some

were resolved by a Mémorandum of Settlement which did not include an acknowledgement of

discrimination by the ELSB. They are not, in and of themselves, evidence that this particular

Sélection Board discriminated against Mr. Ayangma. The position being hired for in this case

was that of a senior manager whereas the positions outlined in the previous cases were primarily

for teachers. There were some management positions, although not at the same senior level as in

this compétition. While, in some cases, it may be relevant to consider information which

predates the complaint to confirm or negate particular hiring practices there must still be some

evidence that the sélection process in the position which is the subject matter of this complaint

was discriminatory.

Mr. Ayangma submits that he was not given the same opportunity to compete as other applicants

who were either not black or had not previously made complaints under the Act. Mr. Ayangma

was able to apply and submit his cover letter and résumé as were other candidates. Mr. MacLeod

provided evidence that the issues of Colour, Race and Ethnie and National Origin and the fact he

had made previous complaints under the Act were not considered by the Sélection Board. There

is nothing on the face of the evidence that directly supports a conclusion that the protected

characteristics of Mr. Ayangma were factors in the screening process. Ele did not provide any

evidence to establish that the application process or the Applicant Screening Tool were designed
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if
to identify those characteristics or that the Sélection Board made any comments to suggest direct

evidence of discrimination.

This is not a situation where I have to weigh evidence or assess credibility on this point. The

only direct evidence is that these characteristics were not issues and there is nothing in the

documentation to suggest otherwise. This is not a situation such as in Widdis where one witness

reported something was said and the other denied it. Mr. Ayangma's assertion that these were

factors is just that, an assertion, it is not evidence supported hy the facts.

Is there any evidence that Mr. Avansma 's ayplication was not assessed based on the same
criteria as the others applicants?

Having found no prima fade direct evidence of discrimination, I must make a commbn sense

assessment as to whether "on their face, the sélection criteria were evenly applied". Ayangma v

The Eastern School Board 2004 PESCAD 23

The screening of applicants is not an exact science. The Sélection Board uses its knowledge and

looks for key indicators in the résumé and cover letter that the person meets the qualifications.

They may miss something if it is not clearly set ont in the document. Mr. MacLeod indicated

that when they reviewed Mr. Ayangma's résumé there was nothing that stood ont to them to

indicate he had extensive and successful experience in a senior human resource management

rôle, in a complex unionized environment. He stated that was the reason they did not choose to

interview him for the position. Whether they were right or wrong, or whether they could have

come to a différent conclusion and asked for an interview to dig deeper is not the issue. The

issue is, did they apply the sélection criteria to his cover letter and résumé in a fashion equal to

other applicants?

Mr. Ayangma's submission is that the Sélection Board did not apply the criteria evenly and he

has presented arguments about how he was qualifred and W.N. was not. He submits that his

submissions on this point take the matter out of the discrétion of the investigator and must he put

before a Panel. As noted above, in Ayangma v French School Board (2002), PESCAD 5 (par 37-

41) there will always be some evidence on either side, it is up to the investigator to make a

common sense analysis of the material as a whole. In Ayangma v The Eastern School Board
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2004 PESCTD 23 the situation was similàr to this one. The Court was assessing whether the

Executive Director and the Chair exercised their discrétion to dismiss a case where Mr.

Ayangma was not given an opportunity to interview for varions positions. In that case, the Court

found that during the investigation phase there was some evidence to support the argument of the

Complainant. This case demonstrates that it is appropriate for the investigator to look beyond the

assertions of the Complainant. There must be some evidence which arises in the investigation of

the complaint to support the assertion. His submissions that the Sélection Board did not apply

the criteria evenly are his opinion based on his assessment of his own qualifications and those of

W.N. He may have differing opinions as to what expériences meet the qualifications but that is

his opinion, it is not evidence.

In terms of an opportunity to compote, Mr. Ayangma was given the same opportunity to submit a

résumé and cover letter as the other applicants. A review of the résumés and the screening tool

establish that ail of the letters and résumés were reviewed and the same screening process was

applied to each. A comparison of the basis on which the applicants were screened in or out does

not demonstrate evidence of unequal application of the sélection criteria. There is no evidence to

establish that the sélection criteria were applied inconsistently.

Mr. Ayangma suggests that a Panel should be held to hear evidence about who was the best

candidate for the position and that the Panel may need to obtain university transcripts of the

applicants. The question is not did the Sélection Board make the best choice of applicants. The

question is based on the information they had before them, which was a cover letter and résumé

ffom each of the candidates, did they apply the sélection criteria evenly?

Having considered his submissions and based on a common sense analysis, including a review of

ail of the applications and the Applicant Screening Tool, 1 do not fmd that there is prima fade

evidence to support Mr. Ayangma's submission that there was of an uneven application of the

criteria. This is not based on a finding of credibility of one party over the other it is à common

sense analysis of the evidence as is laid out earlier in this Décision.
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Appljdiig the three step process in ihe Shakes case the questions are: Was Mr. Ayangma

qualified for the position, did he not get hired (or intewiewed) and was the person who did get

hired (or interviewed) no more qualified than he was?

Was Mr. Ayangma qualified for the position of Director of Human Resources for the ELSB?

The opinion of the Sélection Board was that he did not have the extensive and successful

experience in a senior human resource management rôle in a complex unionized environment,

Although Mr. Ayangma is of a différent opinion, it does appear tliat the Sélection Board

reviewed his résumé and cover letter. The entries on the Applicant Screening Tool confirm he

passed through the educational level of the screening but the notation on the Tool is that he did

not pass the releyânt experience portion. Others with Human Resomce, Management and Union

experience were also screened out at this stage. There is no evidence that the screening tool was

not applied eveiily and in the opinion of the Sélection Board he was not qualified.

Even if he was qualified for the position, given that he did not get the position (or the inteiwiew)

the third step in Shakes would ask: is there evidence that W.N. was no better qualified than him?

Mr. Ayangma had a higlier level of éducation than W.N. but the evidence establishes that W.N.

had more relevant experience. His résumé showed that he had worked for the past five years as

the Director of Labour Relations for the Newfoundland and Labrador School Boards

Association, which tlie members of the Sélection Board were aware was directly comparable to

the position being offered, except that it would be a step above the one in PEl. Even if Mr.

Ayangma were successful in arguing that he was qualified for the position, he bas not established

prima fade evidence that W.N. was "no better qualified" than he was. In terms of the two others

that were screened in, again both had significant experience as senior managers in complex

unionized environments.

Wlien considering the Shakes test, the analysis of how the screening criteria were applied and the

lack of any direct evidence, Mr. Ayangma bas not presented prima fade evidence which would

satisfy the third step in the Moore case that his protected characteristics were a factor in the

décision not to interview him. ^
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Summarv

tt

The Complainant has failed to establisll n prima fade case that lais Colour, Race and Etlonic or

National Origin, or the fact that he has made previous complaints under Ûic Act were factors in

his being denied an interview in the hiring process for the Director of Hurnan Respm-ces, He lias

failed to establisll that the sélection criterià were applied differently to him thari to others who

applied. He lias failed to show that someone no bettèr qualified for the position than he was

hired.

There is no reasonable basis, in the evidence gathered, to justify sendiiig the matter to a Panel.

This coniplaint is, therefore, dismissed pursuant to section 22(4)(a) of the Act as I cohsider that

the coniplaint is without merit.

Review

If the Gomplainant is nOt satisfied with this Décision, he may request to have this Décision

reviewed by the Chairpefson of the Commission. Section 25(1 ) of the Act states that a Request

for Review must be in writing and must be made within 30 days of the receipt of tlie Décision.

A Request for Review must contain reasons why the Complainant believes the Décision should

be reviewed. The Request for Review should also incltide any fiirther information that the

Complainant believes may be important or relevant to the complaint.

Should the Chairperson of the Commission décidé, pursuant to Section 25(3)(a)(i) of the Act, that

the Complaint should not have been dismissed, the Chairperson shall appoint a Huraan.Rights

Panel to deal with the complaint. Pursuant to Section 28.1 of the Act, when tlie Chairperson has

made a décision to appoint a Panel to hear a complaint, the Complainant will have carriage of lus

own complaint at the hearing.

Dated this lOth day of April 2017, at Charlottetown, Prince Edward Island.

Brenda J Picard Q.(Î7
Executive Director
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Review Décision

Ayangma v. English Language Schoot Board
? M 2 .

Introduction:

34

On April 27, 2017, Noël Ayangma, ("Mr. Ayangma"), ("the Complainant") requested a
review of the Executive Director's décision to dismiss his complaint against the English
Language School Board, ("E.L.S.B."), ("the Rêspondent").

My authority to review îhis Décision is derived frôm Section 25(3) pf the Prince Edward
Island Human Rights Act, R.S.P.E.I. 1988 ("the Açt"). During the course of this review, I
have read ail file materials and although 1 do not make reference to al! of thèse, they
have been cohsidered in this décision. My. rôle is to review the Executive Director's
décision and the record and décidé whether the complaint should have beeri dismissed,
My décision is as follows.

Bâckgroiuhd:

Noël Ayangrria has been a xesiçlent of Charlottetown, Pririçe Edward island, for over 25
years, He hoJds a B.Ed. (Linguistics), MBA (Business Administration), PhD (Business
Administration), and M.Ed. (Leadership and Learning). Mr. Ayangma is licensed to
teach on Prince Edward Island at the Certificate VI level and has held a number of .
teachihg positions in the province over the years.

At the tirne of the Complaint, the English Language School Board was a publie schûol
board resporisible for the opération of ail English public schôols in Prince Edward
Island; It has since been rebranded as the Public SchOols Brânch, a bOdy cdrpdfàte
responsibiê for administering the English school system throughout the province..

On February 6, 2012, Mr. Ayangma signed a Pull and Final Release ("the Release")
with the Eastern Schooi Board, the Eastern School District, the French School Board,
and the Govemment of Prince Edward Island as well as certain individuals and
organizations named in a Mémorandum of Settlement. In exchange for the sum of
$370,000, Mr. Ayàrigma agreed to release those organizations and individuels from any
.claims that existed at the time of the agreement or that might arise in thé future.

On Qctober 18, 2013, Mr. Ayangma filed a complaint against the E.L.S.B. alleging
discrimination in the area of employment on the grounds of; 1) Colour, RàCe and Ethnie
or National Origin, and .2) Having Laid a Complaint Under the PEI Human Rights Açt \n
the past.
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Effect of the Release (Preliminary Matter):

The effect of the Release on this current complaint has been raised as a preliminary
matter and needs to be addressed as part of this review.

The Release wâs signed by the Complainant and was full and final. It was undertaken
voluntarily with a clear understanding of its meaning as Indicated by the signed
agreement. There was no evidence offered to suggest any duress in signing the
agreement

The Respondent argues that the Release covers future actions as well as those
outstanding at the time of signing the agreement. In the Respondent's submission of
August 5, 2014, they state:

Mr. Ayangma in paragraph (c) of the Release, agreed specifically to
release any future human rlghts daims that could arise in relation to
présent, past, or future dealings (p. 2).

The Complainant argues that the Release cannot contract out of any human rights
protections in respect of violations that might occur in the future. Doing so would
constitute a trespass of the true spirit of human .rights law. In his submission dated
August 18, 2014, Mr. Ayangma cites Insurance Corporation of British Columbia v.
Heerspink [1982] 2 SCR 145. That case states:

... as [the Human Rights Code] is a public and fundamentallaw, no one,
uniess clearly authorized by law to do so, may contractually agree to
suspend its opération and thereby put oneself beyond the reach of its
protection.

I agree with the Complainant's position on his right to file complaints on future incidents
of perceived discrimination. I am aiso compelled by the very clear wording and intent of
the release of February 6, 2012. Giving both factors considération, I have determined
that my review will focus solely on the evidence surrounding Mr. Ayangma's application
for the position of Director of Human Resources with the E.L.S.B., which is the essence
of this complaint.

The Complaint:

As mentioned above, the original Complaint involves the application of the Complainant
for the position of Director of Human Resources with the E.L.S.B. On September 9,
2013, the Complainant submitted his letter of application and résumé for this position
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but was screened out and net granted an interview. The Complainant feit that he was
qualified .forthe position and should have been granted an interview. At paragraph 87
of the Complaint he states:

The Complainant allégés that though qualified, his application was neither
acknowledged nor was he called for an interview.

Further, Mr. Ayangma believes he was discriminated agalnst by the E.L.S.B. in not
being granted an interview for the position. At paragraph 90 he writes;

The Complaint further allégés that he had been illegally and systematically
denied the opportunity to compete for the position ofDirector ofHuman
Resources, despite being qualified, for discriminatory for discriminatory
[sic] reasons and has therefore been denied his quasi-constitutional right
to be employed and to continue to be employed in the future in the
province in which he has been residing for the past 26 years.

As noted on the complaint form, the Complainant believes himself to be dischmiriated
against because of his colouf, race, ethnie or national origin and because he has laid
complaints in the past. Mr. Ayangma is a black man who grew up in a country other
than Canada and, as the record reveals, he has previousiy laid a number of complaints
against the English Language School Board, the Freneh School Board, the former
Eastern School District and others.

Response from Respondent:

The E.L.S.B. first responded on the merits of the complaint on August 29, 2014. The
submission outlined the composition and function of the "Sélection Board" put in place
to fill the position of Director of Human Resources. It explained how an Applicant
Screening Tool was employed to détermine who would be interviewed for the position.
Per the Respondent's submission, Mr. Ayangma's application was screened out
because:

...he lacked the required "Minimum Qualification"in the area of'Skills and
Expérience" of "Extensive and successfui experience in a senior human
resource management rôle In a complex unionized environment..."

The Respondent's submission makes reference to O'Malleyv. Simpsons-Sears, [1985]
2 S.C.R. 536 at p. 558 and Shakes v. RexPaxLtd. (1981), 3 C.H.R.R. D/1001 in that a
Complainant must establish a prima fade case of discrimination for a complaint to move
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foHA/ard. Specifically, Shakes states that the foliowing criteria must bé met te establish a
prima fade case in employment-related daims;

1) The Complainant was qualified for the particular employment;

2) The Complainant was not hired; and

3) Someone obtained the position who was no better qualified than the
complainant, but lacked the attributs on which the complainant based the
Human Rights Complaint

A second response to the merits of the complaint was submitted to the Human Rights
Commission on October 6, 2014. The E.L.S.B. called for a common sense assessment
oftheevidence. They submitted:

The ELSB is not suggesting that the Executive Director ought to weigh the
evidence presented by the parties; but rather, a common sense assessment of
the evidence gathered during the investigative stage is required to détermine
whether Mr. Ayangma has established a prima fade case of discrimination.

Their argument was that the Complainant had not ciearly established a prima fade case
of discrimination relying on O'Malley v. Simpsons-Sears, [1985] 2 SCR 536 and
Shakes v. Rex Pak Ltd. (1981), 3 C.H. R. R. D/1001 to argue their position. They
submit:

(1) The Applicant bears the onus of presenting evidence which is
"complété and sufficient to justify a verdict in favor of the ApplicantJn
the absence of an answer from the Respondent"- O'Malley v.
Simpsons-Sears

(2) PEI jurisprudence provides that the factors set out in the Shakes test
are appropriate in determining whether a prima fade case of
discrimination is made out. In the instant case, Mr. Ayangma must have
established that his qualifications are at least eaual to those ofthe
successfui candidate

The Respondent submits that the Complainant faiied to meet this test in that he had not
submitted evidence to demonstrate "experience in a senior human resource
management rôle in a complex unionized environment". The Respondent argued that
the successfui candidate was better qualified for the position due to his more extensive
experience in senior management, thus failing the Shakes test They conclude that a
prima fade case of discrimination had not been made.
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Further Submissions from Complainant;

Two further formai submissions from the Complainant were received by the Human
Rights Commission on this complaint.

In the first submission of September 15, 2014, the Complainant requested a complété
disclosure of ail the application materials for those who were screened in and granted
an interview.

The Complainant submits that because his case is about a déniai of an
opportunity to complété [sic], the Respondent musf disciose the matériels
of ail those who were screened in and given an Interview and not only
those of the successfui candidate as suggested by the Respondent to
permit a proper comparison and a complété reply.

At paragraph 9 of this subrhission, Mr. Ayangma maintained that the Executive
Director's rôle at this stage of the investigation is as follows:

It therefore follows that at this stage of the inauirv, it wàs not necessarv to
détermine whether he was aualified or not or wheiher someone else was
better gualified, that was the function ofthe Panel followina a hearina on
the merit of the Complaint

In the second submission of October 17, 2014, the Complainant makes a second call
for the release of materials pertaining.to the applications.

At paragraph 7 of this submission the Complainant writes:

The Complainant suggests that the first step at this stage ofthe
investigation before the Executive Director is to scrutinize the respondent's
response or explanation to as to whyit screened outthe Complainant (the
only black candidate who applled for the position) and allowed three white
candidates no better gualified to proceed to the next stage ofthe sélection.

At paragraph 9 Mr. Ayangma submits:

...the respondent must disclose the application materialofall those who'
were screened in and interviewed...

He calls for this disclosure so that a full comparison can be made between the
applications. He allégés (para. 10) that:

...the criterla identified bv the respondent and included in the job advertisement

were not evenlv applied to ail candidates and that the screenina out of his

application was evidence suggestive of discriminatorv [sicl.
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At paragraph 13 he argues thaï:

In onlv disclosinç the apolication material of the successfui candidate and
not those of the two remainina candidates who were screened in, the
respondent is clearlv avoidina ta deal with the real issue-which the real
issue as to whv it decided to screened oui the Complainant-the allégations
of discrimination.

The Complainant further submits at paragraph 42 that the successfui candidate did not
meet ail the minimum qualifications for this compétition. He writes:

The Complainant submits that it is clear from a common sense review of
the ad against the résumés ofboth the Complainant and the successfui
candidate, that the successfui candidate, did not even contrary to the
respondent's suggestion, meet ail the advertised minimum qualifications
for the position and nor was it better aualified on paper than the
Complainant.

Final Submission from Respondent;

The final submission from the E.L.S.B. was dated January 16, 2015. in it the
Respondent argues that thè Shakes test is the appropriate test with regard to this
compiaint. They state:

Mr. Ayangma's compiaint simply allégés that the successfui candidate was
no better qualified and did not share his personai characteristics; therefore,
the Shakes test applies in these circumstances. (p.4)

They provide a revièw of the qualifications of candidates who were screened out of the

compétition as perthe Screening Tool used. They subrhit that two of the other
screened-out candidates had arguably equai or better qualifications than did the
Complainant. The position of the E.L.S.B remained that Mr. Ayangma ...

.. .lacked senior human resources management experience in a unionized
environment. (p.5)

The Respondent conciudes their submission by stating that Mr. Ayangma had faiied to
establish a prima fade case of discrimination in that:

1) Mr. Ayangma was not qualified for the position of Director of Human
Resources;

2) The applicants who were granted interviews were qualified; and
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3) At least two of thé applicants who were screened out ofthe compétition
were arguably more qualified than Mr. Ayangma.{p.5)

Citing O'Malley and Shàkesthô Respondent E.L.S.B. concluded that the complaint
should be dismissed..

Final Submission from Complalnant:

The Complalnant filed a response to the E.L.S.B. submission of January 16, 2015, with
the Human Rights Commission on January 23, 2015. This was the final formai
submission on this matter prier to the Executive Director's Décision to Dismiss dated

April 10, 2017.

In this final submission, the Complainant maintâins his position that the appropriate test
at this levai of inquiry is:

,the "sufficiency of the evIdence to warrant an inquiry before a panel" and
not the détermination of whether the case has been made out on the balance of
probabiiities. (para. 10)

Mr. Ayangmâ then reviewed the various requirements taken into considération in the
Screening Tool and applied thém to various applications for the position. The following
are some ofthe conclusions that he drawsfrom this exercise;

•  The-sucGessfuI candidate did not meet the Education Requirement set by
the Employer:

It is aiso clear from thé Record that the successfui candidate 's
eduçational baçkgroûnd and training is strictiy in éducation and not
related to an area with considérable trainina in human resources.
While the successfui candidate possessed a Bachslor of Arts and
a Master's degree in Educaù'onai Administration, not [sic] none of
these degrees are related to any human resburce management
fields, they do hot certatniy demonstrate or suggest any
considérable trainina in human resources. (para. 19)

•  Regafding extensive experience in senior management he writes the
following in regards to candidates 3 & 4:

...thefe is also no evidence basedon these candidates'
application material that they even fully met the second criteria
[sic] or that his skills and experience regarding this criteria [sic]
were betterthan thôse ofthe Complainant. (para 30)
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•  The Compiainant aiso raises a question as to whether the successfui
candidate met the experience requirement for the position. He conciudes
that:

It is clear from the successfui candidate's application material that
whiie he held a senior management position in his capacity as
Director of Labour Relations with NLSBA, this position though a
Union position, was heither itseif a in [sic] senior management rôle
nor within a compiex unionized environment. There is therefore
absoluteiy ho evidence on a common sense assessment of the
successfui candidate application material that he met any ofthe
parts of the second requirement- having "the Expérience in a
senior management rôle in a compiex unionized environment".
(para 31 )

Mr. Ayapgma conciudes:

. ..there is some évidence to suggest that the Compiainant was
better qualified than the successfui candidate on paper. The
Compiainant submits that this evidence is suffiçient to establish a
prima fade case of discrimination at this stage ofthe inquiry and
therefore requires further inquiry by the Panel, (para 42)

Décision to Dfsmiss;

The Executive Director dismissed the compiaint due to iack of merit in a décision
rendered on Aprii 10, 2017. in her décision, she first addressed the preiiminary matter
of the Release. The Executive Director determined that:

The parties submiited significant case law reiating to whether a person can
confract out of their Human Rights or can contract out of their right to file a
compiaint when their rights have been violated.

If this matter were to be decided on the issue of the release as it relates to
clalms that arise after the signing of the Release, I wouid forward this
matter to a panel to hear evidence and further submissions about the
intentions of the parties and the effectiveness ofthe Release given the
public policy considération. I do not find, however, that is it necessary to do
so. (p. 3)

Setting the Release issue aside, the Executive Director continues with an examinâtion
of the merits ofthe compiaint. in doing so, she found that:
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...there is no reasonable basis, in the evidence, ta justify sending the
matter ta a Panel bàsed on the merits, ôfthe case and, therefore, it is not
necessary for a Panel to hear evidence on the Reiëase. (pp. 3,4)

The Executive Director examined the screening process for thè candidates and

provided an anaiysis of which were dropped and why. Meeting the "éducation
requirement" and '■reieyant experience" criteria wère necessary to be granted an
interview for thé position. She found that Mr. Ayangma's application (along with five
others) was dropped because:

Mr. Ayangma was aiso screened out at this stage. The notation on the
, Appiicant Screening Tool was that he had no. significant Human Resources

experiencè in a çornplex unionized environment. (p. 7)

The Executive Director continues with ah extensive review of the iaw relating to the
deternnination of prirha fac/e discrimination., She references P.E.I. Music and
Amusement Operators Assn, Inc. as well as Ayangma v French School Board (2002),
PESCAD 5, paras. 37-41 to argue that she is warranted some "common sènse
assessment" of the evidence in making her décision.

She further references Moore v. British Colufribia (Education) SCC 61, Para.33, Shakes
'V RëX PakLid: CâtswellOni 3407 (Ontario'Board of Inquiry), Para. 11, Éastérn School
Board v Montigny and Ayahgmà 2007 PESCTD 18. Para. 21, Widdis v Desjardins
Group/Desjàrdins General Insurance 2013 HRTO 1367, Para. 47, Ayangma v Eastern
School Board 20.Ô4 PESCAD 23, (Paras. 41, 44). In hér discussion (at page, 17) of what
cohstitute's a pnfha fàcië casé of discrirhination at this stage she concludes:

There is a différence in the assessment ofwhat meets a prima fade case
at the investigative stage and. what meets a prima fade case at a Panel. At
the investigative stage, the threshold is less onerôus and is not subject to
the sarne weighing of evidence as is necessary at a Panel. The
investigator is required to conduct a common Sense assesSment ofthe
evidence to.determjne whether there Is a reasonable basis to send the
mattèf to a Panel. (Ayangma v Frepch School Board, 2005 PESCAD 18)

After conducting a common sense review of the evidence, the Executive Director.
Concluded that the Complainant had not estabUshed a prima faç/e case of
discrimination. Her conclusion took into considération the protected characteristics of
the Complainant and whether his application was assessed based on the same criteria
as the others. On the matter of protected characteristics, she concludes;
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There is nothing^ oti the face of the evidence that directiy supports a
conclusion that the profected characteristics ofMr. Ayangma were factors
in the screening process. (p. 19)

On the guestion gf fair application of thé screening process, she concludes:

considered his submissions and based on a common sense

anàlysis, including a review of ail of the applications and the Applicant
Screening Tool, 1 do not find that there Is prima fade evidence to support
Mr. Ayangrna's submission that there was ofan uneven application of the
criteria. This is not based on a finding of credibility of one party ovër the
other it is a common sense analysis of the evidence as is laid oUt earlier in
the Décision, (p. 21)

!

She further finds that, in considération of the Shakes test, the Gomplainant aiso failed to
show that the successfui candidate was "no better qualified" than he was.

He has failed to show that someone no better qualified for the position than he
was hired. (p. 23)

The Executive Director dismissed the Complaint due to lack of merit.

Request for Review:

The Prince Edward Isiand Human Rights Commission received Mr. Ayangma's Request
for Review of thè Executive Director's Décision to Dismiss on Aprij 27, 2017. At page 7
of this submission, the Gomplainant Outlined three key questions that he felt the.
Ghajrperson shpuld consider in his review of the evidence:

11.1 Did thp Sélection Committee err in law in failing to correctiy interpret
the seiection criteria for the position of Director of Human Resources
ànd/or faliing tô evenly apply them to ail applicants? If the answer is yes,
then did the Executive director err in iaw in dismissing the complaint on the
basis of those misinterpretations.

11.2 Did the Éxecutive Director err in law in attempting to résolve the
inherent/appareht conflicts in the interprétations of the sélection criteria
and in blindiy accepting the interprétations [sic] provided by a member of
the Sélection Board over those provided by the Gomplainant and wheiher
in doing so she usurped the function ofthe Panel?

11.3 Did the Executive director conduct arising from the unjustified and
inordinate deiay of 42-43 months in compleiing the investigation report and
the refusai to draw à négative inference on the EmployerS refusai to



Review Décision

Ayangma v. English Language Scho&l Board
=  H 12

•f*

disclose additional relevant materlals (résumés of the individuals
interviewed) and her failure ta disclose additional information (evidence)
gathered through her discussions with a Sélection Board member, Mr. Ron
MacLeod, together with her failure to provide the Complainant the
opportunity to respond to that evidence, amount to both a déniai of naturel
justice and procéderai fairness, and whether these serious breaches are
sufficient to set aside the décision of the Executive director and send this
matter to the Panei?

After an in-depth review of the lengthy Request for Review, the allégations the

Complainant makes may be summarized as foliows:

1) The Executive Director erred in conciuding there was no prima fade
case for discrimination made;

2) The Executive Director misintèrpreted the sélection criteria or
incorrectiy determined the sélection criteria were appiied eveniy
(Question 1, page 10);

3) The Executive Director blindiy accepted the findings of the Sélection
Board (Question 2, page 53);

4) The delay in completing the investigation report amounted to a déniai
of naturel justice and procédural fairness, (Question 3, page 59); and

5) The Executive Qirector's failure to disclose information from Ron
MacLeod and failure to disclose résumés showed bias.

The Complainant describes the issues for this review to consider as foliows:

it therefore foiiows that the oniy key issues arising from the Executive
director's décision which is subject matter ofthis reviéw by the
Chairperson would be whether the sélection criteria was eveniy appiied by
Seiection Board in staffing the position of Director, Human Resources, if
no whether the Executive director erred in iaw dismissing the
Compiainant's complaint at the screening stage of the seiection process.
(para. 9)

This was restated latér in the submission in the following manner:

...the main issue which was before her and is now before the Chairperson
is whether the Seiection Board was right in denying the Compiainant the
opportunity to be interviewed or the opportunity to fuily compete for the
position of Director of Human Resources. (Para. 120)

Included in the Compiainant's submission was a comparative analysis of Mr. Ayangma's
qualifications along with those of candidates #3, #4, #5 who were granted interviews for
the position. The Complainant draws the conclusion that the seiection criteria were not

appiied fairly and that he should have been granted an interview. He states:



._J

Review Décision

Ayangma v. Engiish Language School Board
. I 13

It is clear from readino thé Sélection Board's Applicant Screeninp Tool
put in Evidence Exhibit "G" that the Sôlection Board members ëither did
not know what they were doina or simplv failed and/or refused îo evenlv
apply the sélection criteria so to favor their pre-determined candidate Mr.
Wayne Noseworthv who was familiar with one ofthe Sélection Board
member Ms. Cynthia Fleet. (para. 60)

Further to the alleged issue of the application of the sélection criteria, the Complainant
raises the matter of the delay by the Executive Director in reaching a décision on the
merits of the complaint. He cites numerous cases where delays have impacted the
outcomes of hearings. One such case cited was NLK Consultants Inc. v. British
Columbia (Human Rights Commission;, 1999 CanLII 6340 (BC SC) at para. 57;

(a) the actual length of delay was unreasonable compared to other cases;
(b) there has been both inferred and actual préjudice caused by the

unreasonable delay, actual préjudice by memories fading with tirne,
etc. and inferred préjudice by the size ofthe unreasonable delay; and

(c) The unreasonable delay coupled with the actual or inferred
préjudice taints the fairness of the proceeding and constitute a
déniai of naturai justice.

The Complainant concludes his Request for Review with the following summary
statement at para. 241 :

The Complainant therefore submits that the appropriate course of action In
situations such as the one at bar as detailed aboyé, would requiré the
setting aside of the décision of the Executiye and the sending ofthis case
to the Panel as prayed on several grounds Including but not limited to
flawed and lack of thoroughness In investigation, préjudice caused by both
the inordinate and unjustified delay, déniai of procédural fairness and
naturel justice arising from both the delay and the refusai to disclose or
failures to direct the disclosure of relevant materials, or evidence to the
Complainant.

Response to Request for Review:

The E.L.S.B. submitted their Response to the Request for Review on May 26. 2017. In
this submission, they address five grounds presented by the Compiainant in his
Request for Review.

The first ground is whether the Executive Director erred in concluding that there was no
prima fade case of discrimination. The Respondent submits that Moore and Shakes
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were the correct tests to use in the Executive Director's anâlysis of the complaint. On
this, the Respondent concludes (at page 4):

(1) The Complainant did not show he was Qualified-the evidence (his
résumé and cover letîer) did not demonstrate that he had experience in
a senior human resource management rôle in a complex unionized
environment.

(2) The Complainant did establish that he was not hired (or interviewed)-
this is the oniy part of the Shakes test that was satisfied.

(3) The Complainant did not establish that someone no better aualified but
lackina the dlstinQuishina feature subseguentlv obtained the position

(or interview) -the evidence failed to establish that another candidate

was hired or promoted who does not share the same personal
characteristic and is no better qualified. The application ofthe
successfui candidate, Mr. Noseworthy, was provided for the purpose of
comparisoh. Mr. Noseworthy was better qualified than the Complainant
for the position based on the job requirements.

As in Moore (supra), the Respondent concludes that the Complainant has failed to
establish a prima fade case for discrimination because:

There is po evidence that supports a conclusion that the protected
characteristics of the Complainant were factors in the screening process.

(P- 4)

The second ground deals with the allégation that the Executive Director misinterpreted

the sélection criteria or that the sélection criteria were applied unevenly. The

Respondent submits that the Screening Tool was initiated as a fair and equal
assessment ofthe candidate designed to avoid any discrimination in the hiring process.
They state (at pages 6-7):

The very purpose of a screening tool is to create a fair, consistent and
transparent hiring process. (p. 6)

The Screening Tooi demonstrates that the Sélection Board considered the
same éducation and training requirements for each applicant. (p. 6)

There is no evidence to which the Complainant points to show that the
sélection criteria were applied unevenly. (p.7)

The third ground for the Review was the allégation that the Executive Director "blindiy

accepted" the findings ofthe Sélection Board. The Respondent disputes this allégation

stating:
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The Executive Director did not simply accept the résulta ofthe Screening
Tool. She undertook her own analysis of the hihng compétition, and

~  considered whether the éducation, training and experience of the
applicants met the sélection criteria (Décision, pp.5-10).Here, it is
important to note that thé Executive Director, in carrying out a thorough
investigation, sought input from Ron MacLeod, a member of the Sélection

I  Board, to clarify the objectives of the Sélection Board and what they were
'  looking for in each requirement.

In addition, the Executive Director aiso requested that the ELSB disclose
the résumés of ail applicants and the un-vetted Screening Tool to her, so

_  she could détermine for herself whether the qualifications summarized by
the ELSB in the vetted Screening Tool matched the contents ofthe
applications. The Décision clearly shows that the Executive Director

_  undertook her own detailed evidentiary review and analysis to make an
informed assessment of whether the hihng process was completed in a
discriminatory manner. (p. 8)

The fourth ground identified was in regard to the allégation that the delay in completing
the Décision amounted to a déniai of naturai justice and procédural fairness. The
Respondent argues against the applicability of authorities presented by the Compiainant
in this particular matter. Particular reference is made to NLK Consultants Inc. v British

Columbia (Human Rights Commission) (supra) as weil as Blencoe v. British Columbia
(Human Rights Commission) 1998 CarswelIBC 1009. They conclude:

In the case at hand, the Executive Director conducted a thorough
investigation of the Complaint. In total, six separate submissions were fiied
(three from each party inciuding the Compiainant), which referred the
Executive Director to numerous authorities on the issues of both the
applicability of the Reiease and the merits of the Complaint. Further, the
Complaint was heid in abeyance for nine months (October 2013-June
2014) pending the outcome of a judiciai review application in Ayangma v.
La Commission Scolaire, which similarly dealt with the application ofthe
Reiease executed between the parties. The Executive Director aIso took
the time to ask the ELSB to provide with her access to a Sélection Board
member, and to review the résumés and cover letters of ail applicants in
the process.

It took time for the Executive Director to propérly investigate, consider, and
reach a "common sense assessment" having regard to ail the evidence
gathered and the authorities presented. It is aIso recognized that the
Commission handies a significant case ioad each year and uniike some of
the cases cited in the Request for Review, there is no unreasonable delay
in this case that would warrant a stay of proceedings.(pp. 9 &10)
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The final ground was the allégation that the Executive Director's failure to dîsclose

information gathered through discussions with Ron MacLeod and the refusai to draw

négative inferences from the disclosure of résumés of al! individuals interviewed

showed bias. The Respondent E.L.S.B. disputes this allégation stating:

As stated by the Executive Director at p. 12 ofher Décision, during the
investigative stage ofthe process, "the investigator has the responsibility
to acquire information to acouire information from both the complainant
and the subiect ofthe complaint." (Avanama v. French School Board, 2002
PESCAD 5, para. 38)...

The, ELSB submitted that due to the privacy concerns of those who applied
for this position in con fidence, it ivas unnecessary to produce ail résumés
at this stage ofthe process. However, since ELSB provided the Executive
Director with the un-vetted documents to review, there is absolutely no
reason to draw an adverse inference. (p. 10)

The Response concludes with the following summary statement;

In order to successfully establish a prima fade case of discrimination, the
Complainant had to demonstratè a number offacts under the Moore and
Shakes test, inciuding that he was qualified for the position for which he
applied (since there was no evidence of discrimination). The Executive
Director concluded, the Complainant failed to meet the Relevant
Expérience criteria, and therefore, was not qualified. The Executive
Director aiso determined there was no evidence that the criteria were
unevenly applied, and therefore, there was no basis upon which ah
inference couid be drawn that a protected characteristic was a factor in the
sélection process. (p. 11 )

Détermination:

My authority to review the Executive Director's Décision to Dismiss is dehved from

Sections 25(3) and 25(4) ofthe P.E.I. Human Rights Act whèrein itstates:

(3) The Chairman of the Commission shall

(a) Review Director's décision and décidé whether
(i) The complaint should have beeh dismissed; or
(ii) Seîtiement was fair and reasonable as the case may be;

and
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(b) Forthwith serve notice ofthe Chairperson's décision upon the
complainant and on the person against whom the compiaint was
made.

(4) A décision of the Chairperson under subsection (25) (3) is final and
binding upon parties (1977) (2"^), c.65, s.3.

After reviewing the fiie materials, it Is évident that the crux of this compiaint centers on
the Complainant's bélief that he was dlscriminated against when he was not granted an
interview for the position of Director of Human Resources. He repeatedly makes this
allégation in his numerous submissions. Discrimination is described In the décision of
Andrews v. Law Society of British Coiumbia, (1989) 56 D.L.R. (4th) 1 (S.C.C.) and
accepted in Ayangma \/. The French School Board, (2002) PESCAD 5 (para. 34) as
foliows;

Discrimination may be described as a distinction, whether intentional or not
but based on grounds relating to personal characteristics of the individuel
or group, whicti has the effect of imposing burdens, obligations or
disadvantages on such individual or group not imposed upon others, or
which withholds or limits opportunities avaiiable to other members of
Society.

The Complainant believes that he was discriminated against when he was not granted
an interview for the position and someone no better qualified and lacking his
distinguishing characteristics was granted an interview and indeed was successfui in
being awarded the position.

In order to send this matter to a Panel, a prima fade, case of discrimination must first be
established by the Complainant. In O'Malley v. Simpsons-Sears (1985), 2 S.C.R. 536
the Suprême Court described a prima fade case as foliows:

...one which covers the allégations made and which, ifthey are believed,
is complété and sufficient to justify a verdict in the complainant's favor in
the absence of an answer from the respondent.

This définition was further enhanced in Moore v. British Coiumbia (Education) 2012
S.C.C. 61 (para. 33) wherein a three-part test was defined as a means to détermine
prima fade discrimination:

...to détermine prima fade discrimination, complainants are required to
show that they have a charaçteristic protected from discrimination under
the Code; that they experienced an adverse impact with respect to the
service; and that the protected characteristic was a factor in the adverse
effect.
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It is accepted that the Complainant does have characteristics that are protected under
the Act. He is a black man who was born In a country othér than Canada. He is aiso an
individual who has filed numerous compiaints in the past. 1 can conclude from this that
the first requirement to establlsh prima fade discrirnination has been met.

Further, Mr. Ayangma did experience an adverse impact in net being graritêd an
interview for the position ih question. In not being granted an interview, the prospect of
acquiring the position was eliminated. This no doubt was a disappointment to the
Complainant at the time and precipitated a perception on his part that he had suffered
discrimination. Therefore, I coriclude the second requirement of the Moôrë test has
been met as weli.

1 find the third and final part of the Moore test more difficult to assess. Were any of the
protected characteristics that the Complainant possessed a factor (or factors) in the
décision not to grant Mr. Ayangma an interview?

In making this détermination I am allowed to make a "common sense assessment" of

the evidence as has been suggested by both the Complainant and the Respondent.

There will aiways be some evidence of discrimination even if it cames only
from the complainant. Simiiariy, there wHi aiways te some conflict in the
evidence gàthered by the investigator because the subject of the complainf
will rhost freqûëntiy have a version of the situation différent from that of the
complainant. Therefore, a test that wouid permit any weighing ofthe
evidence in these circumstances wouid be meaningiess and impractical '
Having due regard to the spirit ofthe Act and to permit thé Executive
Director to propefly discharge his lher]tunction as an investigator in
deciding to dismiss a complaint for iack of merit, be[she] must be permitted
to look at the evidence and make some common sense assessment,
Ayangma v; The French School Board, 2002, PESCAD 5 (para. 40)

My rôle on a Section 25 review is no différent from that of the Executive Director.

My common sense assessment compels me to conclude that the Complainant failed to
satisfy the third requirement ofthe Moore test. In otherwords, Mr. Ayangma has not
shown that any of the protected characteristics he possesses factored in the décision to
not grant him an interview.

Even more than Moore, I believe that Shakes (supra) is applicable here. Shakes sets
out the.commonly-used test for discrimination in employment cases at the hiring stage.
That test is:
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In an employment complaint, the Commission usuaiiy estabiished a prima
facie easé byproving (a) that the compiainant was qualified for the
padicuiar employment; (b) that the compiainant was nothired; and (c) that
someone no better qualified but iacking the distinguishing feature which is
the gravamen of the human rights complaint... subsequentiy obtained the
position, if these eiements are proved, there is an evidentiary onus on the
respondent to provide an explanation ofevènts equaiiy consistent with the
conclusion that discrimination on the basis prohibited bythe Code is not
the correct explanation for what occurred.

Contrary to the Complainant's argument, the successfui candidate in the compétition
was better qualified In terms of his experience in senior human resources management.
I find this is évident from the résumés that were submitted by the Compiainant and the
sucçèssfui candidate. It is Obvious to me that the successfui candidate's application
demonstrated a lengthier and more varied experience in human resources management
at senior levels. This was the qualification upon which the Compiainant was screened
out of the compétition and, as a fesult, was not granted an interview.

To suggest that Mr. Ayangma was eliminated from the compétition at this stage
because of his distinguishing characteristics is unreasonable. One candidate was
screened out because he did not have the minimum éducation requirement. The
Compiainant was not screened out at this stage. Five candidates werë screened out
because they lacked extensive experience in senior human resource management.
Thè Çomplainânt was screened out at this stage for thê same reason. Since ail were
treated in the same manner (being screened out as a resuit of the application of the
Screening Tool), my c'ommon sense assessment is that the candidates were treatéd
equally and fairly.

It is clear to me that there is hot enough évidence to meet the third requirement of the
Moore test and 1 am unable to conclude that the Compiainant was discriminated against
because; of his distinguishing characteristics. in considering the factors of the Shakes
test, it is clear to me that the successfui candidate's application demonstrated better
qualifications for the position thàn Mr. Ayangma's- In other words, a prima facie casé
has not been made and this is fatal to the Complaint.

Although it is not necessary to do so, as I havè already detefmined that a prima facie for
discrimination has not been estabiished, i wiii address other issues that the
Compiainant raised in his Request for Review. These inciude: the question of delay,
the Respondent's failure to disclose information from the sélection proceSS, and the
Executive Dîrector s blind acceptance" of the findings of the Sélection Bpard.
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The Complainant submitted that about 42 months lapsed between the filfng of his
complaint on October 18, 2013, and the Executive Director's Décision to Dismiss the
complaint on Aph1 10, 2017. The file materiais show that he considered this to be an
unreasonable âmount of time amounting to a "déniai of procédural unfairness and a
violation of the principies of natural justice".

I recognize that much time lapsed before a décision was reached; however, i aiso
recognize that many submissions were received on this matter even as late as
November 22, 2016. Further, the complaint was held in abeyance from Decembêr 19,
2013, until June 23, 2014, pending a Suprême Court décision on a reiated matter. The
investigation of the complaint, just by the sheer volume of the submissions, was
weighty. When you combine this with the need to access information from other venues
regarding the sélection process, the task becomes quite time-consuming. Finally, when
you couple these realities with thé demands posed by other ongoing human rights files
and the need to complété thorough investigations, the time required to complété this
case was uhderstandable. I find nothing unfair or unnatural in the progression of this
complaint.

With regard to the Complainant's allégation that the Executive Director "biindiy
accepted" the findings of the Sélection Committee, this is not supported by the file
materiais. I believe that the Executive Director conducted a thorough review of the file.
She accessed ând assessed the applications of the other candidates, including their
résumés, in respect of which the Respondent claimed privacy concerns. The Executive
Director became better informed about the sélection cfiteria of the Screening Tool by
interviewing one of the members of Sélection Team for E.L.S.B. From ail of this, I am
compelled to conclude that the Executive Director conducted a fair and thorough
investigation.

Connected to the ptevious allégation is the Complainant's accusation that information
was withheid from him by failing to disclose the application materiais of all the
candidates as well as détails of her meeting with Sélection Board member, Mr. Ron
MacLeod. As noted above, under privacy protection ruies, the E.L.S.B. would not allow
that information to be released; however, the Respondent did allow the Executive
Director to examine it at their office.

Further, the meeting with Mr. MacLeod was conducted as part of the investigation
prûcess and after final formai submissions were received. I do not find anything
inappropriate or contrary to the Act in these matters.
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Décision:

Upon review ôf this file and the numerous submissions that have been made, and
pursuant tô section 25(3)(a)(1 ) of the Prince Edward Island Human Rights Act, I concur
with the Executive Director's décision to dismiss this compiaint against the Engiish
Language Schooi Board. The Prince Edward isiand Human Rights Commission wiii
take no further action on this matter.

Dated this 11 th dayjcf August 2017.

-ioJiqi^ogers
Chair, PEi Human Rights Commission
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STATUTES REFERRED TO: Human Rights Act, RSPEI 1988, C-H.12 ss. 6, 22, 23, 25

CASES CITED: Ayangma v. La Commission Scolaire et al., 2014 PESC 18 Dunsmuir
V. New Brunswick, [2008] 1SCR 190; Prince Edward Island (Minister of Family and
Human Services) v. Prince Edward Island (Human Rights Commission), 2018 PECA
3; Moore v. British Columbia (Ministry of Education), [2012] 3SCR 360; Shakes v.
Rex Pak Ltd. (1981), 3CHRR D/1001 ; Ayangma v. Prince Edward Island (Human
Rights Commission), 2004 PESCAD; Ayangma v. French School Board, 2002
PESCAD 5; PEI Music and Amusement et al. v. Cov't of PEI, 2014 PESC 20; Stewart
V. Elk Valley Coal Corp., 2017 SCC 30 [2017] 1 SCR 591; New Brunswick
(Department of Social Development) v. New Brunswick (Human Rights
Commission), 2010 NBCA 40; Ayangma v. Prince Edward Island (Human Rights
Commission), 2014 PECA 15; Cairns v. Prince Edward Island (Human Rights
Commission), 2017 PECA 16

J  Application for judicial review of décisions of bot h executive director and
chairperson of Human Rights Commission.

J  Gormiey, j.:

j  Background
s| [1] On October 18, 2013, Noël Ayangma, the applicant (hereinafter "Ayangma")
J  filed a complaint with the Prince Edward Island Human Rights Commission

{hereinafter "HRC") alleging discrimination based on "his race, colour, ethnie and
I  national origin contrary to section 6 of the PEI Human Rights Act" and having laid a
J  complaint or given evidence/assistance under the Human Rights Act, RSPEI 1988

{hereinafter the "Act"). The allégations of discrimination related to Ayangma's
application for the position of Director of Human Resources with the English
Language School Board (hereinafter "ELSB").

[2] As delay h as been raised as an issue in this matter, I include the procédural
history of the complaint.

I  [3] Initially, the Executive Director of the Commission (hereinafter "ED") made a
décision to hold the complaint in abeyance pending a décision in a separate judicial
review matter {Ayangma v. La Commission Scolaire et al., 2014 PESC 18). This was

J  communicated by way of correspondance of December 19, 2013. After a décision
was rendered by the court on June 23, 2014, the ELSB submitted its initial response
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on August 5, 2014. These initial submissions dealt with îhe preliminaty issue of
whether or not a fui! and final release signed by Ayangma with the ELSB precluded
him from bringing this complaint.

[4] Subsequently, Ayangma submitted his reply on August 18, 2014 on the
preliminary issue. On August 29, 2014 the ELSB provided its second set of
submissions focussing on the merits of the complaint. On August 15, 2014 Ayangma
submitted his reply on the merits of the complaint. On October 6, 2014 a reply was
submitted by ELSB. On October 17, 2014 Ayangma submitted a further reply to the
additional response of ELSB. On January 16, 2015, ELSB submitted its comments on
Ayangma's further reply and as part of this spécifie submission îhe ELSB attached the
Applicant Screening Tool used in the Director of Human Resources compétition
which delineated the assessment of educational and experience qualifications for the
ten applicants for the position. Ayangma repiied further on January 23, 2015.

[5] As a resuit of having received the documentation from the two parties, the ED
then proceeded to investigate Ayangma's complaint. There was a delay from January
23, 2015 unti! August of 2016 at which time the ED commenced the review of the
submissions made by the parties. As part of the ED's investigation, she met with
Ayangma on October 26, 2016 and received additional submissions from Ayangma
on November 22, 2016 in the form of a comparative analysis he had prepared
assessing the respective merits of the three candidates who were screened in for
interviews against his credentials.

[6] On Mardi 3, 2017, the ED attended at the office of the ELSB's légal counsel to
review ail ten applications received in the job compétition as well as "un-vetted"
copies of the Applicant Screening Tool.

m  On February 27, 2017, Ayangma fiîed an Amended Notice of Application
seeking to remove the ED's statutory authority to investigate his complaint and to
exercise any of her other powers under the Acf. The main ground for the application
was Ayangma's position that the delay was inordinate and unreasonable as of that
date. On April 5, 2017, the ED inter\'iewed one of the three members of the
sélection board for the job compétition.

[8] The ED then issued a décision on April 10, 2017 (hereinafter the "ED
Décision"), in that décision she found that Ayangma had not established a prima fade
case of discrimination on the basis of colour, race, ethnie or national origin, or the
fact that he had made previous complaints under the Act. As well she found that
there was no basis in the evidence gathered to justify sending the matter before a
panel of inquiry.
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[9] Subsequently on April 27, 2017 Ayangma requested a review of the ED
Décision pursuant to s. 25(1) of the Act. As a resuit, both Ayangma and the ELSB
made further submissions in relation to Ayangma's request for review. The
Chairperson conducted a review of the ED Décision. The Chairperson agreed with the
ED Décision to dismiss and issued written reasons pursuant to s. 25(3)(a)(i) of the Act
on August 1, 2017 (hereinafter the "Chair Décision").

[10] As a resuit, Ayangma brought his application for judicia! review on August 25,
2017.

The Issues

[11] The foilowing are the three major issues as identified by the parties:
Issue 1) In dtsmissing Ayangma's complaint, did the ED and the Chairperson identify
and apply the correct légal tests regarding the finding of a ^prima fade" case of
discrimination at the investigative stage of complaints made under the Actl

Issue 2) Was Ayangma denied naturai justice or procédural fairness by:

(a) the ELSB's failure to disclose the résumés and job application materials received
from the candidates who received interviews for the Director of Human Resources
position;

(b) the Commission's failure to order the disclosure of relevant materials including the
résumés of candidates;

(c) the failure to afford Ayangma an opportunity to respond and/or address the latest
submissions made by a member of the sélection committee to the ED in the course of
her investigation; or

(d) the Commission's delay in conducting the Investigation and issuing its décision.

Issue 3) - Did the ED and the Chairperson err in their interprétation of the minimum
éducation, training and experîence requrrements set eut in the job posting?

Issue 1) - Did the ED and the Chairperson apply the correct légal test to détermine
that a prima fade case of discrimination was reached?

Standard of review

[12] It is always instructive to sltuate oneself within the séminal décision of
Dunsmuir v. New Brunswick, [2008] 1SCR 190, when attempting to déterminé the
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appropriate standard of review of each spécifie aspect of an administrative décision.
The Suprême Court contrasts the correctness vvith the reasonableness standards in the
follovving two paragraphs:

[47] Reasonableness is a deferential standard animated by ihe principle that
underlies the development of the two previous standards of reasonableness:
certain questions that corne before administrative Iribunals do not lend
themseives to one spécifie, particular resuit. Instead, they may give rise to a
nutnber of possible, reasonable conclusions. Tribunais bave a margln of
appréciation wilhin the range of acceptable and rationai solutions. A court
conducting a review for reasonableness inquires into tJie qualities that make
a décision reasonable, referring both to the process of articulating the
reasons and to outcomes. In judicial review, reasonableness is concerned
mostly wrth the existence of Justification, transparency and intelligibility
within the decision-making process. But it is aiso concerned vvith whether
the décision faits within a range of possible, acceptable outcomes which are
defensible in respect of the facts and lavv....

[50] As important as it is that courts have a proper understanding of
reasonableness review as a deferential standard, it is abo without question
that the standard of correctness must be maintained In respect of
jurisdictional and some other questions of law. This promûtes just
décisions and avoids inconsistent and unauthorized application of law.
When applying the correctness standard, a reviewing court wili not show
deference to the décision maker's reasoning process; it vvill rallier undertake
its own analysis of the question, The analysis will bring the court to décidé
whether it agréés vvith the détermination of the décision maker; if not, the
court will substitute ils own vievv and provide the correct answer. From the
outset, the court must ask whether the Iribunal's décision was correct.

[13] As Dunsmuir makes clear, the deferential reasonableness standard is
concerned mostly with justification, transparency and intelligibility of the decision-
making process. Whereas in a correctness milieu, the court should décidé whether it
agréés with the détermination of the decision-maker and is free to substitute its own
view and provide what it sees as the correct answer.

[14] I have the benefit of other décisions rendered by the Prince Edward Island
Court of Appeal specifically the décision of Prince Edward Island (Minister of Family
and Human Services) v. Prince Edward Island (Human Rigbts Commission), 2018
PECA 3 (hereinafter "King") which provided clarification with respect to the spécial
place that human rights panels have in the "firmament of administrative law standard
of review analysis":

.17 in 2013 Canada Health Infoway, the judge on judicial review followed
the Suprême Court of Canada directions in Canada (Canadian Human
Rigbts Commission) v. Canada (Attorney General), 2011 SCC 53 (CanLII)
I Moivat"). Mowat advises us that human rights panels have a spécial place
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in thc firmament of administrative iaw standard of review analysis. Due to
their nature, which on the one hand furnishes them vvith a depth of
knowîedge and familiarity with their area of expertise, and on the other
hand requires them to deal with général questions of Iaw thaï are both of
central importance to the légal System as a whoia and outside the
adjudicalor's specialized area of expertise, a rneasured and careîui
approach is involved. Human rights tribunals are generaliy entitled to
deference in respect of the légal interprétation of their home statute and ̂
laws or légal ruies closely connecled with them; however, général questions
of Iaw as mentioned are reviewable on the standard of correctness. 1 his
passage from Movvat sets out ihe reason for the distinction and the proper
approach to seiecting îlie applicable standard of review:

[22] ... The nature of the "home statute" adrninistered by a
human rights tribunal makes the task of resolving this tension a
particularly delicate one. A key part of any human rights législation
in Canada consists of principles and rules designed to combat
discrimination. But, these statutes also include a large number of
provisions, addressing issues like questions of proof and procédure
or the remédiai authority of human rights tribunals or commissions.

[23] There is no doubt that the human rights tribunals are often
called upon to address issues of very broad import. But, the same
questions may arise before other adjudicalive bodies, particularly
the courts. In respect of some of these questions, the application of
the Dunsmuir standard of review analysis couid weil lead to the
application of the standard of correctness. But, net ail questions of
général iaw entrusted to the Tribunal rise to the level of issues of
central importance to the légal System or fall outside the
adjudicator's specialized area of expertise. Proper distinctions^
ought to be drawn, especialiy in respect of the issue that remains
before our Court.

[38] The décision in 2013 Canada Health Infoway was upheld by this
court in Ayangma v. HRC and Canada Health Infoway, 2014 PECA 13, at
para.27.

[39] in Mowat the issue at hand was wheîher the human rights tribunal
couid award costs, and the Suprême Court found that deference should be
accorded on that kind of home statute question, in the présent case, I agree
with the reviewing judge that reasonabieness is the standard of review
applicable lo the exercise that she performed, which was mostly a _
fact-based review of the Panel décision. However, the Panel décision also
addressed iarger questions that engage important questions of iaw or
général importance to the légal system and are beyond the particular _
expertise of the Panel - including discrimination prohibited; discrimination
defîned; disabilities defined; comparator analysis; elernents of a prima /acte
case of discrimination; iega! content of reasonable explanaîion. Regarding
îhose kinds of questions of Iaw, Mowat points to the applicable standard of
review belng correctness. Tbose kind of questions were in play in this
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judiciaî revievv. In the first ground the issue vvas vvhether the Pane! made
an error in determining lhat a prima fade case of discrimination was
established. The second ground (which is net an issue in this appeai)
invoived the content of the duty of procédural fairness owed by a Human
Rights Panel to a party regarding the right to be heard.

[40] For clarification, 1 will mention that i believe the foregoing standard of
revievv analysis is consistent vvith the recent décision of this court in Cairns
V. P£l HRC and Bastern School District, 2017 PECA 16. The Cairns appeai
dealt vvith a judicial revievv of décisions of an Executive Director and
Chairperson, not a Panel; and more importantly it was a fact-based judicial
review. in that appeai décision, we observed (at paras.24-27) that
reviewing courts generally approach the décisions of tribunals under human
rights statutes with considérable deference, as the Commission is an
institution of long standing in this province with expertise in matters
involving human rights lavv. In the Cairns appeai, Mitchell J.A. expressed
the view that the reviewing judge vvas correct in finding that the appropriate
standard of review was reasonableness and not cbrrectness. Being fact
based, the Cairns proceedings dîd not engage the important and basic
questions of law regarding which Mowaî would reserve for the standard of
correctness.

[15] Therefore, the Court of Appeai bas made ciear hovv a measured and carefui
approach is used when making a détermination with respect to the standard of review
analysis in regard to human rights administrative action.

[16] The Court's reference in paragraph 39 of the décision is specificaily germane
to this case as both the Chairperson and the ED were addressing important questions
of law of général importance to the légal system and are therefor arguably beyond the
particular expertise of the panel. Specificaily as our Court of Appeai h as mentioned
SLich matters as: discrimination prohibited; discrimination defined; and éléments of a
prima fade case of discrimination.

[17] i accept the position argued by ELSB that in regards to the first issue, there are
in fact two standards of review which are as follows:

(a) On the question of whether the ED and the Chairperson correctiy identified the
applicable lega! tests is a question of lavv, reviewable on a standard of correctness;
and

(b) the ED and Chairperson's application of the relevant légal principles to the
evidence arising from the complaint is a question of mixed law and fact reviewable
on a standard of reasonableness. ! aiso find that a contextual approach considering
the rôle that the ED and Chairperson are performing are consistent with such an
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anaîysis.

[18] Ayangma contends that both the ED and the Chairperson erred when relying
upon the tests as delineated in Moore v. Britisb Columbia (Minîstry of Education),
2012 SCC 61 [Moore] and Shakes v. Rex Pak Ltd. (1981), 3CHRR D/1001 (Sbakes)
rather than applying lests as establîshed in Ayangma v. Prince Edward Island (Human
Rights Commission), 2004 PESCAD [Ayangma 2004] and Ayangma v. French School
Board, 2002 PESCAD 5 [Ayangma 2002].

[19] Contrary to the position îaken by Ayangma, I find that the ED had a clear
understanding of lier rôle and the appropriate Prince Edward Island précédants. This
is illustrated in the following portion of her décision:

Roie of the Executive Direclor

The duties of the Executive Direcfor are set eut in section 22(3) and (4) of
the Act:

22(3) The Executive Director shall investigate and attempt to effect
settlement of the complaint.

22(4) Notwithstanding subsection (3), the Executive Director may,
at any time,

(a) dismiss a complaint if the Executive Director considers that
the complaint is without merit;

(b) discontinue further action on the complaint if, in the opinion
of the Executive Director, the Complainant has refused to accept a
proposed settlement that is fair and reasonable;

te) discontinue further action on the complaint if it could be
dealt with more appropriately by an alternate method of resolution
under any other Act, or if grievance or other review procédures
have not been exhaustad; or

(d) report to the Chairperson of the Commission that the parties are
unable to settle the complaint.

During this stage of the process;

The investigator has the responsibility to acquire information from
both the complainant and the subject of the complaint. The
investigator is aiso obliged to explore the possibility of settlement
of the complaint with both parties.
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Ayangrm v. French Scbool Board, 2002 PESCAD 5, Para. 38

In P.E.I. Music and AmusemenLOperalors Assn. Inc. v. Prince Edward
Island ihe Court considered the Executive Director's rôle stating:

28...[t]he process to be foltowed by the Executive Director is a
common sense assessment of the case before her/him, akin to what
happens in a prelirninary inquiry in Provincial Courb or in a
Summary judgmenî motion in Suprême Court. The Executive
Director does net make findings of fact, but rather makes an
assessment of the case which is part expert based on his, lier
expérience, qualifications and rôle, and part common sense.,..

29 While the Executive Director does not make findings of fact, he
or she is permitted and indeed is required, îo assess the sufficiency
of a complaint se as to winnow eut daims which do not h ave a
Sound basis.

PEI Music and Amusement et ai. v. Cov't of PEi, 2014 PESC 20,
Paras. 28-29 (upheld on appeal in 2015 PECA 8)

Where tliere is no settlement, it is the rôle of the Executive Director to
détermine if the matter should proceed îo a Panel. If a prima facie case of
discrimination has been establîshed by the Complainant, the matter shouid
proceed to a Panel. If the Complainant has not established a prima facie
case, the matter should be dismissed.

In reviewing the evidence gathered at the investigative stage, the Court
provides the follovving direction:

[37] At the investigative stage under the Human Rights Acl a
complainant need only make out a prima facie case of
discrimination to establish the complaint has marit. The next
question is, what evidence will constitute a prima facie case or put
another vvay, what test shouid the investigator, or the Chairperson
on a review, apply to the evidence gathered in the course of an
investigation to détermine whether to dismiss a complaint for lack
of merit?

[39] ...It Is not the rôle of the investigator to weigh the evidence but
simply to test ils sufficiency and détermina if a panel should
conductan inquiry.

[40] There will aiways be some evidence of discrimination even if
it cornes only from the complainant. Sirnilarly, there will aiways be
some conflict in the evidence gathered by the investigator because
the subject of the complaint will rnost frequently have a version of
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the situation différent from that of the Complaînant. Therefore, a
test that wouid not permit any weighing of the evidence in these
circumstances wouid be meaningiess and impractical. Having due
regard to the spirit of the Act and to permit the Executive Director
le properly discharge his function as an investigator in deciding to
dismiss a complaint for lack of merit, he must be permitted to look
at ail the evidence and make some common sense assessment.

[41]... fT]he investigator is to décidé whether there is a reasonable
basis in îhe evidence gaîhered by the investigator which wouid
justify sending tiie proceeding to the next stage which, failing
setîiement, is the inquiry by a panel appointed by the Chairperson.

Ayangma v. French School Board (2002), PESCAD 5, Paras. 37-41

[20] The record is clear that the ED correctiv identified the appropriate juris
prudence in Prince Edward Island by referring and appfying both îhe Ayangma 2002
décision and the P.E.i. Music and Amusement and Amusement et ai. v. Gov'tof PE!
2014 PESC 20 décision.

[21] As referenced, Ayangma disputes the precedential value of the décision of
Moore which states as follows:

[33] As the Tribunal properly recognized, to dernonstrate prima fade
discrimination, complainants are required to show that they h ave a
characîeristic protected from discrimination under îhe Code; that they
experienced an adverse impact with respect to the service; and that the
protected characîeristic was a factor in the adverse impact. Once a prima
fade case has been established, the burden shifts to the respondent to
justify the conduct or practice, within the framework of the exemptions
available under human righls statutes. If it cannot be justified,
discrimination wili be found to occur.

[22] As one can see, Moore establishes three requirements for a complainant to
prove in order to show a prima fade case of discrimination:

1) that the complainant has a protected characîeristic;

2) that the complainant has experienced an adverse impact; and

3) that the protected characteristic was a factor in the adverse impact.

[23] Moore has been confirmed recently by the Suprerne Court of Canada in
Stewart v. Elk Valley Coai Corp., 2017 SCC 30 [2017] 1 SCR 591 {Elk Valley). As
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well, it lias also been followed in the Prince Edward Island Couit of Appeal in King^
supra wherein the court stated as follows:

[49] The Panel conducîed a discrimination analysis as mandated by ihe
Suprême Court of Canada in Moore, and found that the complainant had
established a prima fade case. Thîs involved the Panel making findings of
fact; (1) that Laura suffered from a personal characteristic protected from
discrimination by the Ac\, namely a mental disabiliiy; (2) that Laura
experienced an adverse impact by being denied access to the DSP, a service
and benefit available to the appropriafe comparator group; and (3) that
Laura's mental disability was the sole reason she was denied.

[24] Therefore it is clear that the ED and Chairperson were correct in their
application of the Moore analysis as it lias been recently reaffirmed by the Suprême
Court of Canada and by the Prince Edward Island Court of Appeal. In particular, the
reliante by the ED on a "common sense assessment of the case before her" has been
favourably considered by both courts.

[25] In the following paragraph of the ED Décision, she applies the Moore analysis
explicitly:

Mr. Ayangma is a person of colour and he has made previous complaints
under the Act. He appiied for and was not hired nor given an opportunily
to be intervievved for the adverti.sed position with the ELSB. He has,
therefore, satisfied steps 1 and 2 of the Moore analysis.

[26] The ED then goes on to step 3 of the Moore analysis and states as follows:

Step 3 requires Mr. Ayangma to establish prima fade evidence that his
Colour, Race and Ethnie or National Origin and/or the fact that he has made
previous complaints under the Act were factors in his not being interviewed
or hired for the position.

[27] The ED reviews the position of Ayangma in regards to the third step. Over the
next several paragraphs of analysis, the ED sought a nexus to détermine if there was
any direct evidence pointing to a conclusion that Ayangma was excluded from an
interview for reasons related to his personal characteristics. Specifically she stated as
follows:

...There is nothing on the face of the evidence that direct!y supports a
conclusion that tiie protected characteristics of Mr. Ayangma were factors în
the screening process. He did not provide any evidence to establish that the
application process or the Applicant Screening Tool were desîgned to
identify those characteristics or that the Sélection Board made any
comments to suggest direct evidence of discrimination.
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[28] The ED was aiso carefui to point eut:

This is not a situation vvhere I have to weigh evidence or assess credibiiily
on this point. The only direct evidence is that these characteristics were not
issues and there is nofhing in the documentation to suggest otlierwise. This
is not a situation such as in Widdis vvhere one witness reported something
was said and the other denied it. Mr. Âyangma's assertion that these were
factors is just that, an assertion, it is not evidence supported by the facts.
[my emphasis]

[29] 1 agree with the characterizatlon by the ED that the mere assertions of
Ayangma in this situation do not amount to any direct evidence.

[30] Having corne to the conclusion that there was no direct evidence, the ED
moved on to déterminé if there was any uneven application of sélection criteria, and
comparisons of candidate qualifications, which are both exemples of the types of
circumstantial evidence suggestive of discrimination. Again this was sound analysis as
performed by the ED and in accordance with Ayangma 2004 and the Sbakes, supra
décision. Unequal application of sélection criteria may be evidence of prima fade
discrimination.

[31] Even though the ED could find no direct evidence thaï Ayangma was excluded
from the interview on the basis of his personal characteristics, as Ayangma 2004
makes clear, it is incumbent upon the ED to make a "common sense assessment" as
to whether or not "on their face the sélection criteria were evenly applied".

[32] After reviewing the minimum qualifications as set out in the job posting, the
ED made it clear that she reviewed the foilowing evidence:

As part of the investigation of this matîer, 1 reviewed the résumés of each of
the applicants for this position and the completed Appiicant Screening Tool.
I met with one of the individuais on the Sélection Board. In doing so, 1
iooked for evidence as to whether the sélection criteria were evenly applied
to ail candidates.

The Appiicant Screening Tool iisted each of the applicant's by name.
Comments were writlen in the colurnns until it was determined the person
did not qualify and, for the most part, the remaining columns did not have
entries.

There were ten applicants for the positions. Seven were screened out prior
to the interview stage. One was screened out for not having the required
éducation. The other six applicants were screened out for not having the
required experience. Of those six, some candidates did have Human
Resource experience and some had familiarity or experience with
unionized negotiations. Mr. Ayangma was one of those six. Applicants #3,
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#4, and #5 were screened in for interviews. Applicant #5 witiidrew before
the interview process. Applicants #3 and #4 were interviewed and W.N.
ÎApplicant #4) was hired for the position.

[33] Later in her décision, the ED stated as follows:

... His submissions that the Sélection Board did net apply the criteria evenly
are his opinion based on his assessment of his ovvn qualifications and those
of W.N. He may have differing opinions as to vvhat expériences meel the
qualifications but that is his opinion, it is nol evidence. [my emphasis]

[34] Again, the ED considered the evidence and ignored the assertions and
opinions of the applicant and "reasonably rejected the applicatifs argument that the
sélection criteria were applièd unevenly".

Comparison of qualifications as evidence of prima fade discrimination. The Sbakes
Test.

[35] Having found no direct evidence of prima fade discrimination nor evidence
that the sélection criteria were applied unevenly, the ED then considered the test as
enunciated under Sbakes vvhich asks that the complainant demonstrate that: 1) he was
qualified; 2} he was not hired or interviewed; and 3) someone no better qualified but
lacking the distinguishing feature, subsequently obtained the position, or in this case,
the interview. It should be noted that the ED confirmed in her décision that the
Sbakes test has been incorporated and accepted in the Suprême Court of P.E.I.
wherein she stated:

The décision of the Panai was before the Suprême Court by way of a
Judicial Review and ihe use of the Sbakes test in emplcyment cases was
confirmed.

[21] In reaching its décision, the Panel correctiy set ouï the three
elements necessary for a prima fade case of discrimination in
emplcyment as articulated in the case of Sbakes v. Rex Pak Lid.
(1981), 3CHRR D/1001.

Easlern Scbool Board v. Moniigny and Ayangma 2007 PESCTD 18,
Para. 21

[36] As the ED made clear, as is often the case in these types of situations following
Sbakes allows for an analysis of the hiring process.

[37] I find that the ED was correct In relying on the Sbakes test to déterminé
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whelher there was any evidence that the complainant had been adversely effected in
stated œ Wlmw-' '^e application of (he test, the ED

Âpplying the three step process in the Shakes case the questions are; Was
Mr. Ayangma qualifiée! for the position, did he not get hired {or
interv/ewej and was the person vvho did get hired (or interviewed) no
more qualified than he was?

Was Mr. Ayangma qualified for the position of Director of Human
Resources for the ELSB? The opinion of the Sélection Board was that he did
not have the extensive and successfui experience in a senior human
resource managernent rôle in a complex unionized environmenl. Although

r. Ayanpa is of a différent opinion, it does appear that the Sélection
Board revievved h.s résumé and cover letter. The entries on the Appiicant
Screenmg Tool confirm he passed through the educational level of the
screemng faut the notation on the Tool is that he did not pass the relevant
experience portion. Others with Human Resource, Management and Union
experience vvere aiso screened out at this stage. There is no evidence thaï
the screenmg tool was not applied evenly and in the opinion of the
befection Board he was not qualified.

Even if he was qualified for the position, given that he did not get the
position (or the interview) the third step in Shakes would ask: is there
evidence that W.N. was no better qualified than him? Mr. Ayangma had a
higher level of éducation than W.N. but the evidence establishes that W.N
had more relevant experience. His résumé showed that he had worked for

andïï rtf h '1 î® 'he Newfoundiandand Labrador School Boards Association, which the members of the
beiection Board were aware was directiy comparable to the position being
offered, except that it would be a step above the one in PEI. Even if Mr

CS'^înrri he was qualified for the position,he has not established pnma fade evidence that W.N. was "no better
quahned'' than he was....

[38] I find thaï the ED appropriately applied the ShaAes test in her décision and that

tîrt that Ayangma had not established pr/ma fade evidence
Shi t riz ^''3n he was". Therefore the third crlteria of theShakes test had not been met and as a resuit, the ED reasonably applied the
appropriate légal test to the facts.

issue 2) Did the ED and Cliairperson fail to provide procédural fairness xvlth respect

'Z application niaterials forcandidates screened into the compétition for the Director of Human Resources; and
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(li) the commissions failure to order the disclosure of relevant materials including
the résumés of candidates.

[39] In regards to the appropriate standard of review to be applied to the questions
relating to procédural fairness I refer to the décision of New Brunswick (Department
of Social Development) v. New Brunswick (Human Rights Commission), 2010 NBCA
40 wherein the Court of Appeal stated as follows:

[32] Deference does not exîend to ailegations of breaches of the fairness
duty because these decision-makers cannot daim a relative expertise over
matters which do not bear upon the merits of the daim. As easy as it is to
State that the duty of procédural fairness applies to pre-hearing procédures
and the content of the duty varies with the circumstances, the review
standard of correctness simply means that it is the reviewing court which
has the last say as to whether the applicant was accorded procédural
fairness in the circumstances: Dunsmuir, at para. 129 per Binnie J,
concurring; Moreau-Bérubé v. New Brunswick (ludicial Council), [2002] 1
S.CR. 249, [2002] S.C.J. No. 9 (QL), 2002 SCC 11 (CanLIi), at paras. 74-75;
Fundy Linen Service inc. v. New Brunswick (Workplace Health, Safety and
Compensation Commission) (2009), 2009 NBCA 13 (CanLII), 341 N.B.R.
C2d) 286, [2009] N.B.]. No.41 (QL), 2009 NBCA 13 (CanLII), at para. 12 and
cases cited therein.

[40] 1 agree with the position of the Court of Appeal of New Brunswick in regards
to the appropriate standard of review to apply and will apply a standard of correctness
as it is the reviewing court which has the last say as to any alleged breaches of
procédural fairness.

[41] With respect to the employer's failure to disclose the résumés and application
materials and the Commission's failure to order the disclosure of relevant materials

including the résumés of candidates, it is important to remember that at this stage of
the proceeding the ED was conducting an investigation of a complaint. Simiiarly the
Chairperson's review of the dismissal of the complaint does not entiîle the
complainant to a hearing at that stage of the proceeding either. In other words,
neither the ED nor the Chairperson was involved in a formai hearing nor was the
complainant entitled to one at this stage of the proceedings. In addition the ELSB
indicaled that they redacted personal information in the Applicant Screening Tool as
the resuit of privacy concerns of those who had applied for this position in
confidence. It should aiso be noted that the ELSB subsequentiy provided the ED with
ail of the un-vetted documents to review. Therefore the ED was able to make her own

assessment having ail of the relevant information available lo her.

[42] It should aIso be taken into considération that this complaint was not a
situation where Ayangma was the subject of a disciplinai-^' hearing or any type of
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réduction of existing privilèges or rights. This complaint was made in regards to the
possibility of an employment position, in particular the possibility of obtaining an
interview for a particular employment position. This is very différent from the
situation where, for instance, an individual may have lost a license or spécifie
privilèges that were aiready in existence as a resuit of an administrative hearing. In
this situation, the complainant is entitled, pursuant to the légalisation, to a complaint
to be investigated by the ED, but one of the legislatively contemplated outcomes is
that the complaint may very well be dismissed at first instance. As well the
complainant is of course entitled to request the Chairperson to conduct a review of
the ED's décision, but again no hearing is mandated at that stage of the proceeding.
This results in diminished procédural protections pursuant to the process when the
rights and privilèges of the complainant are considered in context.

[43] I also note the décision of Ayangma v. Prince Edward Island (Human Rights
Commission), 2014 PECA 15 at paras. 19 and 20 vvhich states as follows:

[19] The décision of the reviewing judge upholding the Executive Director's
décision not to order production of ai! materials requested by Ayangma
does not amount to a déniai of procédural fairness. Pursuant to the HRA,
the Executive Director had the discrétion to demand the production of
documents that he feit may be relevant to the subject matter of the
investigation. The Executive Director is not obligated to demand the
production of every document identified by a complainant.

[20] The Human Rights Commission required PSAC to produce over 800
pages of materials in respect of the three compétitions for which Ayangma
was screened in. In reviewing the décision, the judge was ab!e to satisfy
himself that the Executive Director and the Chairperson arrived at their
respective conclusions in a reasonable and fair manner. The décision of the
judge on judiciat review that the décisions of the Executive Director in that
regard were reasonable clearly withstand appellate scrutiny.

[441 1 agree with the Court of Appeal that the ED is under no obligation to demand
the production of every document identified by a complainant. Nor is the ED under a
duty to breach the privacy of uninvolved third parties who have done nothing more
than to apply for employment in order to investigate pursuant to the Âct in this case,
as the record makes clear the information was provided to the ED in due course and
she did rely upon the unredacted information to corne to her décision. Ayangma is
not entitled to complété unfettered disclosure. This is nota criminal proceeding and
Ayangma is not accused of anything, nor is it even a hearing wherein Ayangma's
existing rights or privilèges are at stake. Therefore, I find that the décision of the ED
not to order the production of unredacted documents to Ayangma does not amount to
a déniai of procédural fairness. There is no breach and therefore no remedy.
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2) (iîi) Was the fallure to afford the applicant an opportunity to respond and/or
address the latest submissions inade by a member of the Sélection Committee a
breach?

[45] As part of the ED's Investigation and prior to preparlng her décision she
Interviewed one of the members of the Sélection Board. Ayangma argues îhat this was
a déniai of procédural fairness. In particular the member of the Sélection Board
provided Information to the ED relating to the sélection criteria used in the
compétition and explalned the décisions made using the Sélection Tool.

[46] Ayangma argued that the additlonal inforrpatlon received from Mr. MacLeod, a
member of the Sélection Board was tantamount to "new argument" from the ELSB.

[47] I do not agree with the characterizatlon made by Ayangma. The Information
provided by Mr. MacLeod was relevant evidence and not argument.

[48] The complainant would have a much stronger argument had the ED been
offered an opportunity to review one of the sélection panel and refused to do so. In
other words, the décision by the ED to take the extra time and conduct an In-person
Interview of an additlonal witness In order to ensure the foundational strength of her
décision Is Indicative of procédural fairness, not a déniai. Therefore 1 do not find that
the décision not to allow Ayangma to respond to the Information provided by Mr.
MacLeod to the ED amounts to any breach of procédural fairness.

[49] It was aiso pointed out that Ayangma had the opportunity to make any
additlonal submissions he feit were lacking prIor to the ED's décision when the matter
was reviewed by the Chairperson pursuant to s. 25(3) of the Act.

Delay

i  [50] I have previousiy reviewed the history of thIs proceeding and In particular the
submissions which were filed and the spécifie procédural steps which added to the

a  length of tIme It took thIs matter to get to the décision stage of the ED and
I  consequently the Chairperson. In summary, it is to be remembered that no less than

six separate submissions were flled, three from each party, which referred to
7  numerous authoritles on preliminary issues and the merits of the complaint. There
I  was a period of tIme where the complaint was held In abeyance for nine months

pending the outcome of a judiclal review application in a related matter. I have the
1  benefit of the décision of Cairns v. Prince Edward Island (Human Rights
i  Commission), 2017 PECA 16 which dealt with the Issue of a four year delay in

reaching a décision by the very same administrative board. tn particular the court
1  stated as follows:
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47 in Blenco v. British Columbia (Human Rights Commission). 2000 SCC
44 (CanLII). 12000], 2 S.C.R. 307. Bastarache J. wrote, atparas.121-122:

To constitute a breach of the duty of fairness, the delay must bave
been unreasonabie or inordinate (Brown and Evans, supra, at p.
9-68). There is no abuse of orocess bv delav per se. The respondent
must demonstrate thaï the delay was unacceptable to the point of
being so oppressive as to taint the proceedings. While I am
prepared to accept that the stress and stigma resulting from an
inordinate delay may contribute to an abuse of process, I am not
convinced that the delay in this case was "inordinate".

The détermination of whether a delay bas become inordinate
dépends on the nature of the case and its complexity, the facts and
issues, the purpose and nature of the proceedings, whether the
respondent contributed to the delay or waived the delay, and other
circumstances of the case. As previousiy mentioned, the
détermination of whether a delay is inordinate is not based on the
length of the delay alone, but on contextuel factors, including the
nature of the various rights at stake in the proceedings, in the
attempt to détermine whether the community's sense of fairness
would be offended by the delay.

48 In New Brunswick Human Rights Commission v. Province of New
Brunswick (Department of Social Development), 2010 NBCA 40 (CanLil),
Robertson J .A. for the court was dealing with a situation of an almost six
year delay. He wrote at para.56-57:

56 ... 1 pause here to note that everyone has assumed a six year
delay is "inordinate". However, inordinate does not equate wiîh
unusual. An examination of the human rights jurisprudence reveais
that it is not unusual to find the lapse of severa! years from the date
a complaint is filed and the day it moves forward for adjudication.

57 ... In the administrative law context, mere delay wili not
warrant a stay of proceedings for abuse of process, as that wouid be
tantamount to imposinga judicialiy created limitation period.
There must be proof of "significant préjudice" which results from
an unacceptable delay. The delay must be such that a party's ability
to make fui! answer and defence to the complaint lias been
compromised {e.g., witnesses have died or are unavaiiable or
evidence has been lest). The Suprême Court has framed the
applicable test in terms of whether proof of préjudice lias been
demonstrated to be of sufficient magnitude to impact on the
fairness of the hearing. ...

J
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49 Caîrns' position that delay alone is suiïlcient to support a finding that he
has been prejudiced is net supported by fhe iaw. He bas shown no

,.j préjudice let alone significant préjudice,

50 While iî is unfortunate that the file iay dormant for approximately two
years (2007 to 2009), this delay did not cause préjudice to Cairns. He fully
availed himself of the opportunity to présent his case and his material to the
Commission, and his case was thoroughiy considered.

[51] I find that based on the submissions provided by Ayangma and the ELSB, I
agree with the reasoning of Justice Mitcheî! in Cairns, and in this situation, 1, as vveil
can find no préjudice, let alone significant préjudice based on the submissions made
by Ayangma. Significant préjudice is a high bar, it requires spécifie evidence in order
to meet the requirements of the test as set out in Cairns, 1 do not think the court
shoufd impose any form of judicially created limitation period in regards to the HRC
I see no proof of evidence having been lost to the process. Therefore I do not detect
any procédural unfairness in regards to this issue.

Did the ED and Chairperson err in their interprétation of the minimum éducation,
training and experience requirements set out in the job posting?

[52] For purposes of analysis of this aspect of the judicial review, I agree with the
characterization made by the ELSB that this question is a question of mixed Iaw and
fact and is reviewable on a standard of reasonableness. In support of the
reasonableness standard it is important to remember that both the ED and the
Chairperson of the HRC have been granted the législative power to investigate
complaints of discrimination and aiso to seek to attempt to bring settlement to the
complaints where it is reasonably possible. In fact, the decision-making process in
interpreting the minimum éducation, training and experience are more fact than Iaw
and from the perspective of a Dunsmuir analysis, it is clear that in regards to this issue
reasonableness is the appropriate standard of review to apply.

[53] I find that the ED did complété an appropriate and thorough review of the
evidence in relation to each candidates' qualifications for the Director of Human
Resources position. Specifically, it is clear that the ED contextualized her analysis by
identifying the minimum qualifications for éducation, skills and experience as set out
in the job posting. She then identified the members of the Sélection Board and
indicated that an Applicant Screening Tool for the purposes of determining who
would be interviewed among the îen candidates was betng used by the Sélection
Board. She aIso reviewed the résumés of the ten candidates for the position and
contextualized the ten candidates in the Applicant Screening Tool. She aIso took the
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1  extra step of inlerviewing a member of the Sélection Board. She aiso had the benefit
of un-vetted originais of the Tool and résumés and applications prier to making her
décision and indicated that she was specificaily looking for evidence to support the
applicant's allégations that discriminatory factors were applied to screen him out. In
particular she stated that:

The ELSB provided nie with access to ail of the applications received as vvell
as access to the un-vetted Applicant Screening Tool so I could concluct a
review of the screening process to détermina if there was any evidence in
those documents to support Mr. Ayangma's allégations that discriminatory
facto rs were considered to screen him out, and/or that the sélection criteria
were net applied evenly among the applicants. Those are appropriate raies
for the Executive Director, acting as an, investigator, on a complaint such as
this. In order to maîntain the privacy of the applicants I have provided some
Information a bout the applicants without putting such détail as vvould lead
to their identification.

[54] The ED aIso considered the relevant experience category of the screening
process. In particular she focussed on the requirement for "extensive and successfui
experience in a human resource management rôle in a complex unionized
environment in areas such as labour relations, recrultment and rétention, policy
development, HR complaining, classification, etc.".

[55] Coupled with the information she received from Mr. MacLeod of the Sélection
Board she was able to ciarify vvhat constitutes a "complex unionized environment"
and the requirement of having "experience in the senior human resource
management rôle".

[56] The ED took the time to note that six of the remaining nine candidates were
screened out at this stage. She was carefui to review the Applicant Screening Tool and
the résumés of each of the candidates and provided a summary as to the basis for
each respective screening out.

[57] The ED considered Ayangma's submissions that he should not have been
screened out at that stage. She considered hîs cover letter and résumé and his
submissions to the Commission and obtained the opinion of the member of the
Sélection Board on those submissions as well as on Ayangma's credentials and the
credenîials of the successfui candidate. She aIso considered the application of the
successfui candidate and the other two applicants selected for interviews.

[58] The ED came to the conclusion that there needs to be some evidence that the
sélection process utilized in filling this particular position was discriminatory for
Ayangma to be successfui.
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[59] As has been already been discussed, she found no direct evidence of
discrimination relating to the applicant's protected characteristics in this hiring
process. She referred to Ayangma 2004 and made note of her requirement to "make a
common sense assessment as to whether on their face the sélection criteria were

evenly applied".

[50] The ED stated as follovvs:

In ferms of an opportunîty to compete, Mr. Ayangma vvas given the same
opportunity to submit a résumé and cover letter as the other applicants. A
review of the résumés and the screening tool established that al! of the
letters and résumés were reviewed and the same screening process was
applied to each. A comparison of the basis on vvhicii the applicants were
screened in or out does not demonstrate evidence of unequa! application of
the sélection criteria. There is no evidence to establish that the selêction

criteria were applied inconsistently.

[61] I find that the process as delineated by the ED was a reasonable process and
her findings were reasonable based upon a common sense assessment of the
evidence and therefore I am not inclined to disturb her findings in regards to this
matter. i aiso find that the Chairperson correct!y understood his, rôle on the s. 25
review and would specifically refer to the following section of the Chairperson's
décision:

Contrary to the Complainant's argument, the successfui candidate in the
compétition vvas better qualified in terms of his experience in senior human
resources management. I find this is évident from the résumés that were
submitted by the Complainant and the successfui candidate, it is obvious to
me that the successfui candidate's application demonstrated a lengthier and
more varied experience in human resources management at senior levels.
This was the qualification upon which the Complainant was screensd out of
the compétition and, as a resuit, was not granted an interview.

[62] Having reviewed the Chairperson's findings, ! find that it too was based upon a
reasonable common sense assessment of the evidence and I am not inclined to seek

to replace any of the findings made by the Chairperson or the ED.

Conclusion

[63] Having considered the submissions of the ELSB, the Commission and
Ayangma, and for al! of the reasons set out above, I dismiss this application for
judicial review of the décisions of the ED and the Chairperson.
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Costs

[64] As the ELSB has been successfui in îhis matter, I award partial indemnity costs
to the ELSB. I will make no award of costs to the Prince Edward Island HRC. If the
parties cannot agree on costs within 30 days, I will accept brief written submissions
on the respective parties' positions on costs and will provide a décision on costs
forthwith.

Dated: December 21, 2018

11
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BEFORE THE HONOURABLE JUSTICE GORMLEY DATE: JANUARY.3Î!?2019

BETWEEN:
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PRINCE EDWARD ISLAND HUMAN RIGHTS COMMISSION
THE ENGLISH LANGUAQE SCHOOL BOARD

RESPONDENTS

ORDER

WHEREAS the Applicant filed an Amended Amended Notice of Application on August

25, 2017, seeking judicial revIew of the décisions of the Executive Dlrector cf the Prince
Edward îsland Human RIghts Commission dated April 10, 2017, and the décision of the

Chairperson ofthe Prince Edward Island Human RIghts Commission dated August 11, 2017

(the "Décisions ofthe Human RIghts Commission");

and WHEREAS the Application for judicial revtew was heard on June 26,2018;

■j

J

AND UPON reading the application record and written submissions ofthe parties;

AND UPON hearing the submissions of Mary Lynn Kane, Q.C., on behalf of the
Respondent English Language School Board and Jonathan Greenan on behalf of the
Respondent Prince Edward Island Human RIghts Commission, and the submissions of the
Applicant, Mr. Ayangma;
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THfS COURT ORDERS that the Appli'cant's Application for judicial revIew of the
Décisions of the Human RIghts Commission be dismissed;

THIS COURT FURTHER ORDERS that the Respondent Engtish Language School Board
is entiUed to partial indemniîy costs as agreed upon by the parties. If the parties are unable

jg to agree on costs within 30 days of the written décision, they shall make written submissions
on costs following which a décision on costs shall be rendered by this court.

(SGD.) JAMES W. GORMLEy
m

il

1

«
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who reviewed the needs for the position and determined the minimum éducation and
experience requirements for the job. The job posting included the following
description;

Education and training:

•  Must have a university degree, preferably at the master's level, in a
reiated area with considérable training in human resources

•  CHRP désignation would be an asset

Skills and experience:

•  Extensive and successfui experience in a senior human resource
management rôle in a complex unionized environment in areas
such as labour relations, recruitment and rétention, policy
development, HR planning, classification, etc.

•  Managerial experience is required

•  Proven conflict management and médiation skills

•  Demonstrated superior interpersonal collaborative and team
building skills

•  Excellent oral, written présentation skills are essentiel

•  Ability to use word processing, spread sheets, HR information
Systems, présentations software, email.

[3] Ten applications were received including Ayangma's. The sélection board met
twice to review the applications. They used an "Applicant Screening Tool" to assist
in the screening process. Seven applicants were screened out, one for failing the
minimum éducation requirements and six because they lacked the necessary skills
and experience, Ayangma was one of the six screened out for lack of the necessary
skills and experience.

[4] Applicants three, four and five were screened in; however, one applicant
withdrew from the compétition. Applicant four, W.N., a white maie was the
successfui applicant.

[5] On October 16, 2013 Ayangma filed a 93-paragraph complaint complété with
attachments A through Z-9 with the HRC alleging that the ELSB discriminated against
him on the grounds of colour, race, ethnie or national origin, as well as on the ground
of having previousiy filed complaints under the Human RightsAct, R.S.P.E.I. 1988,
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Standard of revîew

[13] The rôle of the court of appeal on an appeal from a judicial review is to
détermine whetherthe applications judge identified the appropriate standard of
review and applied it correctiy. In doing so, the court of appeal steps into the shoes
of the reviewing judge such that its focus is, in effect, on the panel décision {Agraira
V. Canada (Public Safety and Emergency Preparedness), 2013 SCC 36, at paras.45
and 46; Cairns v. Prince Edward Island Human Rights Commission and Eastern
School District, 2017 PECA 16, at para.23).

[14] Dunsmuir v. New Brunswick, 2008 SCC 9, continues to be the starting point
when considering the issue of standard of review. The standard of review of course
dépends on the question to be answered. Dunsmuir advises that where the
jurisprudence has aiready determined in a satisfactory manner the degree of
deference to be accorded to a particular tribunal, there is no need to go further
(Dunsmuir, para.62). This court has determined on a number of occasions that
décisions of the HRC, including those of the executive director and the chairperson,
are entitled to deference (Cairns v. Prince Edward Island Human Rights Commission
and Eastern School District, 2017 PECA 16, at para.23-25; Ayangma v. Canada
Health Infoway, 2014 PECA 13). Their décisions on questions of law within their
home statute and on questions of fact and mixed fact and law are to be reviewed on a
standard of reasonableness.

[15] On the other hand, on the question of whether or not the HRC misidentified or
choose the wrong test, the standard of review must be correctness (King v.
Government ofP.E.l, 2018 PECA 3, para.39). Should a décision maker choose the
wrong test, the resuit will inevitably be unreasonable as the resuit would not be an
acceptable outcome defensible in respect of the facts and law (Dunsmuir, para.47).

[16] The second issue is a question of procédural fairness. Procédural fairness is
not amenable to a correctness or a reasonableness standard. A party must be
accorded procédure fairness. It is either there or it is not. On that basis, it is akin to
the standard of correctness in the sense that if the tribunal dealt with a party unfairly
the tribunal décision will not be upheld (Miltonvale Park v. IRACand O'Halloran,
2017 PECA 23, at paras.83-85).

Issue #1: Dld the executive director/chair of the HRC misapply or misidentify
the test to be applied to détermine a prima fade case?

•  Positions of the parties

[17] ELSB's position is that the décision maker chose the correct test and applied it
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exhausted; or, as in the case at bar, where the executive director considers that the
complaint is without merit.

[24] A complainant whose complaint has been dismissed at the investigative stage
bas the right to request a review of the executive director's décision by the
chairperson {s.25(l)). When exercising her duties as an investigator under s.22 the
executive director is performing an administrative fonction [Ayangma 2002, at
para.20). She must détermine whether there is a reasonable basis in the evidence for
proceeding to the next stage which is the adjudicative stage.

[25] The panel at the adjudicative stage must weigh the evidence, assess credibility,
and make a détermination of whether or not the complainant has a successfui
complaint.

[26] The rôle of executive director as investigator is much more limited than the
rôle of the adjudicative panel. She must gather information from both the
complainant and the subject of the complaint to décidé whether there is a reasonable
basis in the evidence gathered which would justify sending the complaint to a full
adjudicative panel. In doing so, the executive director must remain within an
administrative fonction and not slip into an adjudicative rôle. There is a fine line
between weighing evidence as an adjudicator to make a détermination as to whether
or not a complaint has been established and that of testing the sufficiency of the
evidence to détermine if a panel should be appointed.

[27] That problem was recognized by McQuaid J.A. in Ayangma 2002 at para.40
where he wrote:

There will aiways be some evidence of discrimination even if it only comes
from a complainant. Similarly, there will aiways be some conflict in the
evidence gathered by the investigator because the subject of the complaint
will most frequently have a version of the situation différent from that of the
complainant. Therefore, the test that would not permit any weighing of the
evidence in these circumstances would be meaningless and impracticable.
Having due regard to the spirit of the act and to permit the executive
director to properly discharge his fonction as an investigator in deciding to
dismiss a complaint for lack of merit, he must be permitted to look at al! the
evidence and make some common sense assessment.

[28] In my vIew both the executive director and the chairperson chose the correct
test and applied It properly. The executive director began with an extensive review
of the evidence. She acknowledged that she had the responsibillty to acquire
Information from both Ayangma and the ELSB.

[29] She charged herself wIth the correct law and specifically cited P.E.I. Music and
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[33] Next the executive director examined whether there was any evidence that his
application was net accepted based on the same criteria as other applications. Here
she came to the same conclusion; that is, that there was no evidence to support the
daim. She applied her common sense assessment of the evidence to the test set out
by the Suprême Court of Canada in Moore v. British Columbia, supra. That case set
the following three-part test to détermine the existence of a prima fade case of
discrimination:

To demonstrateprima fade discrimination complainants are required to
show they have a characteristic protected from discrimination under the
code; that they have experienced an adverse impact with respect to the
service; and that the protected characteristic was a factor in the adverse
impact.

[34] The executive director, and the chairperson reviewing the executive director's
décision, found that Ayangma met the first two requirements set out in Moore but on
a common sense review of the evidence he did not meet the third. The executive

director then applied the Shakes v. Rex Pak test and came to the same conclusion.
The Shakes test states "in an employment complaint, the Commission usually
establishes a prima fade case by proving (a) the complainant was qualified for the
particular employment; (b) the complainant was not hired; and (c) that someone no
better qualified but lacking the distinguishing feature which is the gravamen of the
human rights complaint (i.e. race, colour etc.) subsequently obtained the position."
Once again the executive director and the chairperson found Ayangma did not meet
the third requirement.

[35] Ayangma's contention that the executive director and the chairperson should
only consider his evidence and not consider any evidence from the ELSB does not
hold up to the direction given to the HRC in Ayangma 2002 where this court said at
para.40:

Having due regard to the spirit of the Act and to permit the executive
director to properly discharge his function as an investigator in deciding to
dismiss a complainant for lack of merit he must be oermitted to look at ail
the evidence and make some common sense assessment. [Emphasis added.]

[36] The fatal flaw in Ayangma's reasoning in this case is that he fails to see the
distinction between facts/evidence on the one hand and argument and opinion on the
other. The executive director was quite spécifie that she was not engaging in a
weighing of evidence. If she weighed the evidence she would have run afoul of the
law in Ayangma 2002 and applied the wrong test. She was quite carefui to ensure
that in rendering her décision, she was not choosing between différent versions of the
facts.



1^1
% % Page: 11 11^

[42] Ayangma relies on several cases such as Christopher v. City of Toronto, 2016
H.R.T.O. 285, and Forsch v. Canadian Food Inspection Agency, 2004 F.C. 513, for
the légal proposition that the test for disclosure is "arguable relevance". He argues
that he is "clearly entitled ta complété unfettered disclosure of ail arguably relevant
materials that went before the sélection committee" (Ayangma factum, para.97).

[43] He further argues that "it is not important whether the Executive Director had
gained access to the résumés ofother candidates screened in by the respondent as it
was for the appellant and NOT the Executive Director to establish a prima fade case
of discrimination (Emphasis in original, para.91, Ayangma factum)

[44] He argues that his complaint is that he was denied an opportunity to compete,
therefore the full applications of ail three candidates who were screened in are
relevant and necessary for him in making out a prima fade case of discrimination.

[45] The ELSB says that as a public body it is constrained by the Freedom of
Information Protection PrivacyAct, R.S.P.E.I. 1968, Cap. F-15.01 (FIOPPA), and
therefore cannot release private information. It points, as well, to the fact that at least
one applicant's covering letter made it clear that his application was forwarded "in
confidence." Releasing résumés with names redacted would still allow identification
of the applicants who may easily be identified by other information in their résumés.

[46] The HRC takes no position on whether there is any obligation to disclose as
between Ayangma and the ELSB. It points out that the powers of the executive
director in conducting an investigation are both defined and limited by the HRA .
She has the power to compel production "for examination" of records and documents
but that ail information obtained this way "shall be kept in confidence, except as
required for the purposes" of the Act (s.23(1 )).

[47] There is no requirement in the HRA for the executive director to demand
production of every document requested by a complainant. The HRC states that the
only documents that Ayangma requested but did not receive were those related to
applicants three and five, the two unsuccessfui candidates who were screened in.
However, the ELSB granted the executive director unfettered access to review ail
documents related to ail applicants.

[48] The Act provides for a review by the chair of the HRC of the investigative
décision made by the executive director. The chair of the HRC in conducting a
review has no power to compel documents nor authority to disclose documents.
Should a matter proceed to a hearing however, a HRP has authority to compel
production of relevant documents from any person.
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complaint is filed with the HRC. The complaint is investigated and broadiy speaking,
if it has merit and cannot be settled, an HRP is appointed to deal with the complaint.
The HRP is the adjudicative body. The executive director, as investigator, plays an
administrative rôle {Ayangma 2002, at para.20). Nevertheless the investigation must
be impartial and thorough (Cairns, paras.37-40). That means, amongst otherthings,
that the executive director must seek evidence from ail relevant sources, including the
complainant and the respondent (Ayangma 2002, at para.40). She is to control the
nature and extent of the investigation and, being impartial, she is not to be unduly
influenced by either party.

[54] In her investigation she may compel "production for examination of records
and documents" (s.23(1)) and she may copy those records and documents but must
keep them "in confidence except as required for the purposes" of the HRA.

[55] There is no doubt that the content of the duty of fairness at the investigative
stage is not the same as it is at the adjudicative stage. It is much higher at the
adjudicative stage.

[56] In Ng V. Canada (Attorney General), 2000 F.C. 1298 (FC), a case upon which
Ayangma relies, the Fédéral Court found that the décision maker violated the ruies of
procédural fairness by accepting the Board's response to Ng's request for a review
and then failing to disclose it to Ng so she could respond to them. This, the Fédéral
Court held, constituted a breach of procédural fairness.

[57] In Tanaka v. Certified General Accountants Association (NWT), 1996 CanLlI
3653 (NWTSC), the court found there was a breach of duty of fairness where the
Association investigated a complaint and referred the matterto an inquiry without
providing notice to the complainant and without providing an opportunity to the
complainant to respond to the complaint. In Williams v. First Air, 1990 CanLII 8909
(FC), Williams' human rights complaint was dismissed at the investigative stage. The
Fédéral Court held the fact that she had the opportunity to respond to the
investigative report before the human rights décision was made to dismiss her
complaint was sufficient procédural fairness at the investigative stage.

[58] Slattery v. Canada (Human Rights Commission), [1994] 2 F.C. 574, was
another case where the complaint was dismissed at the investigatory stage. The
Fédéral Court found that procédural fairness requires that the parties be informed of
the substance of the evidence obtained by the investigator, that the parties have an
opportunity to respond to the evidence and make représentations in relation to the
evidence, and that the investigation be neutral and thorough.

[59] In this case the executive director kept both parties informed as the
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thèreto, and thâtthe investigation is neutrai and thorough (see aiso Cairns, supra,
paras. 3 7-40).

[64] In this case I cannpt seê where the tribunal bas failed to provide procédural
fàirness. Ayangrna was kept informed throughout of the substance and nature of the
matter befpre the executive direçtpr. He was given ample opportunitY to put his case
fOrward and hé took full advantage of that, The executive director must be
independent ànd do a thorough investigation and it would appear from her décision
that she did so. Jhè invéstigator doeS not haye to dance to the tune ealled by éither
the complainant pr the respondent. Doing so would breach the executive director's
duty of impartiality. The executive direçtpr In this case bas a degree of expertise in
huitian rights matters and fui (y understpod the issues invplved in the case.

Conclusion

[65] I would dismiss the àppeâl with co$ts on a partial indemnity basis in favour of
the English Language SçhoOl Board. There wlll be no costs either for or against the
Humah Rights Commission. Should thé parties be unable tpagree on costs by;the
third day pf Séptembén 2019, the English Language School Board may submit its bill
of costs to thiséoUrt by Septembér 9"'', and Ayangmâ sha|l file his response by
September 16"^.

AGREE:

AGREE

avid H. JenkinsChief justie

Justice John K. Mitchell

Justice Michèle M. MUrp
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ERRATUM
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Erratum:

[1] In para.57 of the décision flled July 25, 2019 the first sentence should hayé
read:

[57] In Tanaka v. Çèrtified General Acçountants Association (NWT), 1996
CanLII 3653 (NWTSC), the court found there was a breach of duty of
fairness where the Assoclàtlon investigated a complaint and rèfèfred the
rhattér to an înquiry withôut providing notice to the mertiber and
without providing an opportunity to the mèmber to respond to the
complaint

[2] : The rëst of para.5;7 remàins unchanged.

1 iëf;J ustice David: H. j.ënlf ihs

Justice Mich Murphy

Justice John K. Mitchell
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BEFQRE;

BETWEEN:

PRINCE EDWARD ISLAND COURT OF APPEAL

Chief Justice David K. Jenklns

The Mon. Michèle M. Murphy
The Mon. John K. MItcheli

NOELAYANGMA

i  AUG 2 8 m

Or

AND â ■
THE PEIBUMAN RiGHTS COMMISSION

APPELLANT

RESPONDENT

THE ENGLISH LANGUAGE SCHOOL BOARD

RESPONDENT

ORDER

WHEREAS thé Appellent filed a Notice of Appéal on January 14, 2019, appealing an

Order of Justice James W. Gôrmjèy, dated January ?, 2019, which dismissed the Appellant's

Application for Judiçiaj Review of a décision of the Chairperson of the Prince Edward Island

Human Rights Commission;

■  AND WHEREAS the Appeai was hèârd on June 24, 2019;

AND UPON rèadihgthe submissions of the parties; :

:  AND UPON hearing the submissions of counsel on bèhalf of the Respondent English

Language Scbool Board, the submissions Of cpùnsel on behalf of the Respondent Prince

Edward island Humân Rights Commission, and the submissions of the Appeliant;



THIS COURT ORDERS tha't the Appellant's appea! of the Order of Justice James W.

Gormieyshall beand Is hereby dismissed;

THIS COURT FURTHER ORDERS thatthe Respondent English Language School Board

is entitled to partial indemnity costs as agreed uppn by the parties.: If the parties are unable

to agree on costs, they shail make written submissions on costs in :accordance with the

directions in this Court's written décision dated July 25, 2019, following which a décision on

costs shall be rendered by this Court.

ISSUED at the City of Charlottetown, Queens County, Prince Edward Island, this A3

day of A.ugust, 2019.

D.eputy Registrar
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